# **Development of Novel Biodegradable Polymer-based Drug**

# **Composite for the application of Cardiovascular Implants**



Author Tooba Javaid Khan

Reg. Number **00000320277** 

Supervisor

# Dr. Murtaza Najabat Ali

Department of Biomedical Engineering and Sciences School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering (SMME) National University of Science and Technology (NUST) Islamabad Pakistan December, 2021

# Development of Novel Biodegradable Polymer-based Drug

# **Composite for the application of Cardiovascular Implants**

Author

# Tooba Javaid Khan

Reg. Number

# 00000320277

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MS Biomedical Sciences

Thesis Supervisor: Dr. Murtaza Najabat Ali

Thesis Supervisor's Signature:

# DEPARTMENT OF BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING AND SCIENCES SCHOOL OF MECHANICAL & MANUFACTURING ENGINEERING NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY, ISLAMABAD, PAKISTAN DECEMBER, 2021

# Thesis acceptance certificate

Thesis Acceptance Certificate Certified that final copy of thesis entitled **"Development of Novel Biodegradable Polymer-based Drug Composite for the application of Cardiovascular Implants"** submitted by Tooba Javaid Khan (Reg. No. 00000320277), student of MS Biomedical Sciences has been assessed by the concerned authority. According to NUST Regulations, it was found complete, free of plagiarism, errors, and mistakes, and accepted as partial fulfillment for the award of MS/MPhil Degree.

Signature (Supervisor):

Dr. Murtaza Najabat Ali

Signature (HOD):

Dr. Syed Omer Gilani

Signature (Principal): \_\_\_\_\_

Dr. Javaid Iqbal

COUNTERSINGED

# NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

MASTER THESIS WORK

We hereby recommend that the dissertation prepared under our supervision by **Tooba Javaid** 

### Khan and Regn No. NUST 2019 00000320277

Titled: **"Development of Novel Biodegradable Polymer-based Drug Composite for the application of Cardiovascular Implants"** be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of MS degree.

## **Examination Committee Members**

1. Name: Dr. Syed Omer Gillani

2. Name: Dr. Emad-Ud-Din

3. Name: Dr. Muhammad Bilal Khan Niazi

Supervisor's name: Dr. Murtaza Najabat Ali

Dean/ Principal

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

Head of Department:

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

# Declaration

I certify that this research work titled "*Development of Novel Biodegradable Polymer-based Drug Composite for the application of Cardiovascular Implants*" is my own work. The work has not been presented elsewhere for assessment. The material that has been used from other sources it has been properly acknowledged / referred.

> Signature of Student **Tooba Javaid Khan** 2019-NUST-Ms-BMS-00000320277

## **Certificate for plagiarism**

It is certified that MS Thesis entitled "*Development of Novel Biodegradable Polymer-based Drug Composite for the application of Cardiovascular Implants*" by **Tooba Javaid Khan,** Reg. No. 00000320277 has been examined by me. I undertake the follows:

- **a.** Thesis has significant new work/knowledge as compared already published or are under consideration to be published elsewhere. No sentence, equation, diagram, table, paragraph, or section has been copied verbatim from previous work unless it is placed under quotation marks and duly referenced.
- b. The work presented is original and own work of the author (i.e., there is no plagiarism). No ideas, processes, results, or words of others have been presented as Author own work.
- **c.** There is no fabrication of data or results which have been compiled/analyzed.
- **d.** There is no falsification by manipulating research materials, equipment, or processes, or changing or omitting data or results such that the research is not accurately represented in the research record.
- e. The thesis has been checked using TURNITIN (copy of originality report attached) and found within limits as per HEC plagiarism Policy and instructions issued from time to time.

Name & Signature of Supervisor Dr. Murtaza Najabat Ali

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

# **Copyright statement**

- Copyright in text of this thesis rests with the student author. Copies (by any process) either in full, or of extracts, may be made only in accordance with instructions given by the author and lodged in the Library of NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering (SMME). Details may be obtained by the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made. Further copies (by any process) may not be made without the permission (in writing) of the author.
- The ownership of any intellectual property rights which may be described in this thesis is vested in NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering, subject to any prior agreement to the contrary, and may not be made available for use by third parties without the written permission of the SMME, which will prescribe the terms and conditions of any such agreement.
- Further information on the conditions under which disclosures and exploitation may take place is available from the Library of NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering, Islamabad.

Dedicated to

# My Amma & Abu

for their utmost support and encouragement

## Acknowledgements

All praises to Allah almighty who is the most beneficent and the most merciful. I am grateful to Allah Almighty for giving me the strength to complete my master's degree and for the strength that kept me standing in the most difficult circumstances and completing the degree.

I feel great pleasure and privilege to have this opportunity to express my gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Murtaza Najabat Ali. I feel honored to work and learn under his kind supervision. I am thankful to my supervisor who gave me enthusiasm, esteemed inspiration, and guidance throughout my research work.

I would like to pay special thanks to Sadia Hassan for her tremendous support and cooperation. Without her assistance I wouldn't have been able to complete my thesis. I appreciate her kind help and guidance throughout the whole thesis. I also wish to express my thanks to Bakhtawar Ghafoor for guiding me, teaching me how to properly work in lab and also for being so supportive.

I am profusely thankful to my beloved parents Mr. Qaim Javaid Ali Khan and Mrs. Amina Javaid for providing me this opportunity to study at one of the best institutes. Without their support this journey was impossible.

I would also like to thank my friends and lab fellows Ramsha Munir, Sania, Namra Bilal, Aimen Arshad and Aroosa Younis for their constant support, help and cooperation. Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to all the individuals who have rendered valuable assistance to my study.

# Table of Contents

| Thesis acceptance certificate                               | i   |
|---|-----|
| FORM TH-4   | ii  |
| Declaration   | iii |
| Certificate for plagiarism                                  | iv  |
| Copyright Statement   | v   |
| Acknowledgements  | vii |
| List of Figures   | xi  |
| List of Tables  | 13  |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS                                       | 14  |
| Abstract  |     |
| Chapter 1   |     |
| INTRODUCTION  |     |
| Chapter 2   |     |
| LITERATURE REVIEW   |     |
| 2.1 Cardiovascular material and implants                    |     |
| 2.2 Biomaterials used on cardiovascular implants            | 22  |
| 2.2.1 Bio-ceramics  | 23  |
| 2.2.1.1 Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> and ZrO <sub>3</sub> | 23  |
| 2.2.1.2 Diamond-like carbon                                 | 24  |
| 2.2.1.3 LTI carbon  | 24  |
| 2.2.2 Polymers  | 24  |
| 2.2.3 Metals and metal alloys                               | 25  |
| 2.2.4 Composites  | 26  |
| 2.3 Problems of cardiovascular implants                     | 26  |
| 2.3.1 Thrombosis (blood coagulation)                        | 28  |
| 2.3.3 Coagulation Cascade                                   | 29  |
| 2.3.3 Anticoagulant Coatings                                |     |
| 2.4 Polylactic acid (PLA)                                   | 32  |
| 2.4.1 Market size of PLA                                    | 32  |
| 2.4.2 PLA synthesis   |     |

| 2.4.3   | Degradation of PLA   | 33 |
|---------|--|----|
| 2.4.4   | Drug release of PLA  |    |
| 2.5     | Biomedical applications of PLA                                       | 35 |
| 2.6     | Anti-coagulant drugs   | 35 |
| 2.6.1   | Cinnamon Cassia  |    |
| 2.6.2   | Ocimum tenuiflorum (Tulsi)   |    |
| 2.6.3   | Panax Ginseng  |    |
| Chapter | 3  | 40 |
| MATI    | ERIALS AND METHODS   | 40 |
| 3.1     | Materials  | 40 |
| 3.2     | Selection criteria   | 40 |
| 3.3     | Optimization of solvent and PLA concentration                        | 40 |
| 3.4     | Film fabrication   | 41 |
| 3.5     | Extract preparation  | 42 |
| 3.5.1   | Extraction of Cinnamon Cassia (Cassia)                               | 42 |
| 3.5.2   | Extraction of Panax ginseng  | 42 |
| 3.5.3   | Extraction of Oscimum Tenuiflorm (Tulsi)                             | 42 |
| 3.6     | Optimization of drug concentration for drug loaded film fabrications | 43 |
| 3.6.1   | Drug loaded films fabrications                                       | 44 |
| 3.7     | Compositions   | 46 |
| 3.8     | Characterization   | 47 |
| 3.8.1   | SEM analysis   | 47 |
| 3.8.2   | FTIR analysis  | 47 |
| 3.8.3   | Energy dispersive X-rays (EDX) analysis                              | 47 |
| 3.9     | Anti-coagulation studies   | 48 |
| 3.9.1   | PT Test  | 48 |
| 3.9.2   | a-PTT Test   | 48 |
| 3.10    | In-vitro Studies   | 49 |
| 3.10.1  | Drug release studies   | 49 |
| 3.10.2  | Degradation studies  | 49 |
| 3.10.3  | Hemolysis test   | 50 |
| 3.10.4  | Antioxidant studies  | 51 |
| Chapter | 4  | 52 |

| RESULTS AND DISCUSSION   | 52 |
|--|----|
| 4.1 Scanning Electron microscopy                                 | 52 |
| 4.2 EDX analysis   | 53 |
| 4.3 FTIR   | 54 |
| 4.4 In-vitro anticoagulation studies                             |    |
| 4.4.1 Prothrombin time test (PT)                                 |    |
| 4.4.2 Activated partial thromboplastin time (a-PTT)              | 60 |
| 4.5 In-vitro studies   | 61 |
| 4.5.1 Drug release studies                                       | 61 |
| 4.5.2 Degradation studies  | 62 |
| 4.5.3 Hemolysis test   | 63 |
| 4.5.3.1 Qualitative analysis                                     | 63 |
| 4.5.3.2 Quantitative analysis                                    | 64 |
| 6.1 Antioxidant studies  |    |
| Chapter 5  | 67 |
| CONCLUSION   | 67 |
| Chapter 6  | 67 |
| FUTURE PROSPECTS   | 67 |
| Chapter 7  | 68 |
| Supplementary data   | 68 |
| 7.1 Degradation studies of P.ginseng, O.tenuiflorum and C.cassia | 68 |
| 7.2 Drug release studies of P.ginseng, O.tenuiflorum, C.Cassia   | 69 |
| 7.3 Hemolysis studies of individual drugs                        | 71 |
| 7.4 Antioxidant studies of individual drugs                      | 71 |
| Chapter 8  | 72 |
| REFERENCES   | 72 |

# LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 2.1: Illustration of Implant induced Thrombosis                       |
|--|
| Figure2.2: Coagulation Pathway30   |
| Figure 2.3: Polymerization of Lactic acid34                                  |
| Figure 2.4: Hydrolysis of PLA34  |
| Figure 2.5: Chemical structure of chemical constituents of Cinnamon Cassia38 |
| Figure 2.6: Chemical structure of Ginsenosides39                             |
| Figure 3.1: Pure PLA film42  |
| Figure 3.2: 10 percent Panax Ginseng loaded film44                           |
| Figure 3.3: 10 percent Panax Ginseng44                                       |
| Figure 3.4: 10 percent O.tenuiflorum film45                                  |
| Figure 3.5: 7 percent P.ginseng film45                                       |
| Figure 3.6: 10 percent C.Cassia film46                                       |
| Figure 3.7: Panax Ginseng film46   |
| Figure 3.8: O.tenuiflorum film46   |
| Figure 3.9: Cinnamon film46  |
| Figure 3.10: Composite film46  |
| Figure 4.1: Sem micrographs of drug loaded films and Composite films53       |
| Figure 4.2: FTIR spectrum of O.tenuiflorum along composite and PLA films56   |
| Figure 4.3: FTIR spectrum of C.Cassia along Composite and PLA films57        |
| Figure 4.4: FTIR spectrum of P.Ginseng along Composite and PLA films58       |
| Figure 4.5: Result of PT test  |

| Figure 4.6: Results of a-PTT test   | 61 |
|---|----|
| Figure 4.7: Drug release of composite and Heparin films                         | 62 |
| Figure 4.8: Degradation studies of composite and Heparin films                  | 63 |
| Figure 4.9: Qualitative Analysis of Hemolysis Test                              | 65 |
| Figure 4.10: Positive control   | 65 |
| Figure 4.11: Percentage hemolysis of composite, Heparin loaded film and PLA     | 66 |
| Figure 4.12: Percentage Antioxidant activity of Composite, Heparin and PLA film | 67 |

# LIST OF TABLES

| Table 2.1: Anticoagulant coatings for biomedical implants                               |
|---|
| Table 2.2: Chemical constituents of Drugs responsible for their anticoagulation         |
| activity40  |
| Table 3.8: Compositons of Drug loaded films, Composite and heprin loaded                |
| film47  |
| Table 4.1: Percentage weight of elemental composition in pure PLA films and drug loaded |
| films54   |

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| CVD                            | Cardiovascular disease      |
|--------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| WHO                            | World health organization   |
| VAD                            | Ventricular assisted device |
| CAD                            | Coronary artery disease     |
| AHV                            | Artificial heart valve      |
| BHV                            | Bioprosthetic Heart Val     |
| MHV                            | Mechanical heart valve      |
| Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> | Aluminum Oxide              |
| $ZrO_2$                        | Zirconium Oxide             |
| DLC                            | Diamond like carbon         |
| Ti                             | Titanium                    |
| Cu                             | Copper                      |
| V                              | Vanadium                    |
| PE                             | Polyethylene                |
| PP                             | Polypropylene               |
| PTFE                           | Polytetrafluoroethylene     |
| PU                             | Polyurethane                |
| PMMA                           | Polymethylmethacrylate      |
| PA                             | Polyamines                  |
| MAA                            | Methyl acrylic acid         |
| EGDA                           | Ethylene glycol diacrylate  |

| LMWPLA | Low molecular weight Poly lactic acid  |  |
|--------|--|--|
| HMWPLA | High molecular weight poly lactic acid |  |
| DMF    | Dimethylformamide                      |  |
| PBS    | Phosphate buffer saline                |  |
| DPPH   | 2,2-diphenyl 1-1-picrylhydrazyl        |  |
| DCM    | Dichloromethane                        |  |
| SEM    | Scanning electron microscopy           |  |
| FTIR   | Fourier transform infrared region      |  |
| EDX    | Energy dispersive X-rays               |  |
| РТ     | Prothrombin Time                       |  |
| a-PTT  | Activated partial thromboplastin Time  |  |
| RBCs   | Red blood cells                        |  |

# Abstract

Biodegradable polymer-based drug loaded films and composite were prepared as potential anticoagulant coating for the application of cardiovascular implants for the treatment of thrombosis. Cinnamon Cassia, Ocimum tenuiflorm and Panax Ginseng are pharmaceutically active in many ways, having properties such as anti-coagulation, anti-oxidative activity and can be used to treat thrombosis after implantation of cardiovascular implants. For this purpose, Drug loaded films were fabricated using solvent casting method and PLA (Poly lactic acid) was used as drug carrier and above-mentioned drugs were used as anti-coagulant drugs. The surface morphology and chemical compositions of coatings were analyzed by Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and Fourier transform infrared region (FTIR). In this study, *In vitro* anticoagulation activity, drug release studies, degradation studies, hemocompatibility and anti-oxidative studies of coatings were investigated. In vitro anti-coagulation activity of coating films was checked by a-PTT and PT test and drug composite indicated anti-coagulation activity equals to commercially available anticoagulant drug and anti-coagulation behavior of coating films was improved as the concentration of drug was increased. Drug release and degradation behavior of drug composite were almost same to commercially available anti-coagulant drug. In addition, drug composite exhibited high anti-oxidative and non-hemolytic activity. To conclude, the results of the present study showed that drug composite has a potential application as anti-coagulant coating for cardiovascular implants.

*Key Words:* Thrombosis, Implant coatings, Drug carrier, Composite, Biomaterials, Cardiovascular implants, Surface modification

# **Chapter 1**

#### INTRODUCTION

A disease related to the circulatory system in humans is known as a cardiovascular disease (CVD). CVDs are a major health problem in Pakistan and are also leading cause of deaths globally. Cardiovascular diseases include the problems of valves, muscles and coronary arteries which effect the functions of heart and reduce the ability of heart to circulate blood through the arteries and vessels. Coronary artery diseases are common heart diseases, in which plaque builds up within the arteries and disturbs the normal flow of blood in them. The disturbance of blood flow in the arteries by plaque accumulation is called atherosclerosis (Borhani, Hassanajili, Tafti, & Rabbani, 2018).

According to World Health Organization (WHO), 17.9 million people died from cardiovascular diseases in 2019, indicating 32% of global deaths and 85% of them were due to heart attack and strokes. Three quarter of deaths from cardiovascular diseases happened in low and middle- income countries. Out of 17.9 million deaths, 17 million deaths were premature deaths due to non-communicable diseases and 38% of them were because of cardiovascular diseases.

According to centers for disease control and prevention, heart diseases are leading cause of deaths in United States including men, women, people of racial and ethnicity groups. In united states, one person dies of cardiovascular diseases in 36 seconds and total 6,59,000 people die from heart diseases annually. In 2016 to 2017, total cost of heart diseases in United States was about \$363 billion annually which includes all the health care services and medicines (Virani et al., 2021). Out of all heart diseases coronary heart diseases are the common type of heart diseases which have killed 360,900 people in 2019 and 2 in 10 deaths happened in adults less than 65 years of age (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. About multiple cause of deaths 1999-2019). In united states, an estimated 18.2 million people age 20 and more have coronary artery diseases (CAD) and 805,000 people had heart attack and out of them, 605,000 were the ones who had heart attack first time and 200,000 are the ones, who already had heart attack (Fryar, Chen, & Li, 2012).

Every year, deaths due to cardiovascular diseases are increasing significantly and primary cause of coronary diseases is atherosclerosis that develop due to high cholesterol levels in blood, smoking and high blood pressure that cause dysfunction of endothelium layer of vessels. Due to dysfunction of endothelium, low density lipids enter the intimal layer and start immune responses. In the intimal layer, low density lipids are engulfed by macrophages resulting in foam cells formation which are main reason of arthrosclerosis. Foam cells cause the proliferation of smooth muscle cells, and that proliferation of smooth muscles cells form lipid containing fibrous cap which is known as plaque that block the blood flow and result in heart attack and in most cases end up the death of patients (Bentzon, Otsuka, Virmani, & Falk, 2014; Otsuka et al., 2015)

For the treatment of cardiovascular diseases, cardiovascular implants are being employed extensively but these implants possess some problems such as thrombosis, inflammation, cytotoxicity, and corrosion that lead to their failure due to limited endothelialization of implants surface. Therefore, to solve these problems implant surfaces are modified with biomaterials(Zou et al., 2021).

Cardiovascular implants with surface modification exhibit antiproliferative, antithrombotic, nontoxic, non-corrosive and anti-inflammatory properties by releasing drugs from polymeric matrix. Thus, it is desirable to fabricated coatings which are not only biocompatible but also have biodegradative properties in order to prevent undesirable effects. In addition, drugs that are used

18

for loading purposes in drug delivery systems should have properties such as re-endothelialization, anti-inflammatory response and should have anti-proliferative properties. Polylactic acid is widely being used in drug delivery applications because of its characteristic features such as biocompatibility, biodegradability, has outstanding film fabrication properties. It also has excellent mechanical strength and flexibility as well as it is cost effective and easily available (Lee et al., 2019).

Many plants based anti-coagulant agents are being used as alternative to synthetic drugs due to their bioactive chemicals such as extracts of Cinnamon cassia, Ocimum tenuiflorum, and Panax ginseng have anticoagulation properties and can be used as an alternative to drugs that are currently in use for the treatment of blood coagulation. Phenolic chemical constituents of the cinnamon cassia, ocimum tenuiflorum and panax ginseng are responsible for their antioxidant, anti-inflammatory properties (Gunendren, Nordin, Ramachandran, Samad, & Sciences, 2017; Gupta, Garg, Uniyal, & Kumari, 2008; H. Liu, Lu, Hu, & Fan, 2020; Singh, Srivastava, Singh, & Srivastava, 1995; Triveni et al., 2013).

Therefore, the goal of our study was to develop a novel herbal drug composite based on biodegradable polymer for the application of cardiovascular implant, characterization of drug composite and evaluation of its *in vitro* anticoagulation activity, antioxidant activity and hemolytic activity. Additional objective of this research was to check cumulative drug release, degradation rate of individual drug loaded films and drug composite and further compare them with commercially available anticoagulant synthetic drug. To achieve those objectives, the best suited methods were employed and the best candidate with respect to anticoagulation activity, hemolytic activity, antioxidant activity as well as drug release and degradation studies was selected for the coating of cardiovascular implants.

# **Chapter 2**

### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Cardiovascular material and implants

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) bring large financial burden and are major reason of deaths all around the world. Traditional medical treatments are not preferred to treat these diseases because they are not effective enough. However, the improvements in the field of blood contacting devices could make them to be used in surgeries for saving the life of patients. FDA has approved millions of implants that are commercially available for the treatment cardiovascular diseases and these implants are being implanted in millions of patients but still there is a need to improve these devices to prevent the risks of cardiovascular diseases and help patients to recover completely (De Mel, Bolvin, Edirisinghe, Hamilton, & Seifalian, 2008).

One example of Cardiovascular implants is stents. Two types of stents are being used in dilating blood vessels: Bare metal stents and Drug eluting stents. Bare metal stents possess limited hemocompatibility due to the release of noxious ions in the biological environment such as Cr ions, Ni ions and Co ions etc. Thus, they induce inflammatory reactions as a result in stent restenosis occurs which becomes the reason of deaths in patients having percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (Garg & Serruys, 2010). Development of stents, loaded with drugs was considered the revolution in stent layout, but clinical studies have proved that their performance is not so well in long term as they could cause late thrombosis because of the drug release from their surface, resulting delay in re-endothelialization (Joner et al., 2006).

Another example of vascular implants is vascular grafts, used for the treatment of blocked arteries by replacing and bypassing them. Vascular grafts with 5mm and smaller diameter induce restenosis and thrombosis because of poor biocompatibility of their surface. Consequently, there is a need to develop grafts that are biocompatible, mechanically favorable with smaller diameter that will help to prevent thrombosis and hyperplasia as both are fatal hazards after implantation of synthesis vascular grafts and cardiovascular stents (De Mel et al., 2008)

Ventricular assist device (VAD) is another traditional example of cardiovascular implant that act as blood pump and support blood circulation. Even though, no cell damage and hyperplasia were reported in clinical studies but as these devices are blood contacting medical devices so the interaction between blood and surface can cause common complications such as infections and thromboembolism. To prevent the risks of blood coagulation and infections, blood contacting devices should be designed with biomaterials having outstanding hemocompatibility (Sin, Kei, & Miao, 2012).

Prosthetic heart valves are commonly used cardiovascular implants, used to treat two types of valvular heart diseases; congenital and acquired. For congenital heart diseases bioprosthetic heart valves are employed and for acquired heart diseases mechanical heart valves are used (Sacks, Merryman, & Schmidt, 2009). Calcification of artificial heart valves(AHV), cracks at the surface of bioprosthetic heart valves (BHV) and blood clotting around mechanical heart valves (MHV) surface have been reported in many studies and patients with heart valves need to take anticoagulant and immunosuppressive drug therapy whole life to prevent blood coagulation and calcification of implants (Zilla, Brink, Human, & Bezuidenhout, 2008). Furthermore, cardiovascular devices including blood support devices, hemodialyzers, oxygenators, catheters

and extracorporeal tubings are also used for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases and these devices also cause similar problems which are reported in multiple studies.

## 2.2 Biomaterials used on cardiovascular implants

According to reports of market data forecast, in 2021, the estimated global market size for biomaterials is 110.6 billion \$US and it has been estimated, it will increase 217.6 billion \$US with a CAGR of 14.5% by 2026 because of the need of people for biomaterial based medical products.

Different biomaterials are used for the different biomedical applications depending upon their function and requirement. They are used for the development of implants as well as for their coating purposes. The basic criteria to select biomaterials for implant fabrication are dependent upon applications their application. Corrosion, abrasion, degradation properties of biomaterials, their bioavailability, their physicochemical and mechanical properties are also main considerations for their selection. Commonly used biomaterials for cardiovascular implants include: bioceramics, polymers, composites based on polymers and drugs as well as metals and metal alloys (Stanisławska, 2014).

Nowadays, biomaterials are used in biomedical applications; as carrier of drug delivery, as scaffolds in tissue engineering, in development of synthetic blood vessels and artificial heart valves, in pacemaker fabrication and as artificial joints etc. (Kara, 2012) According to the report of research and markets, biomaterials used in cardiovascular applications are dominating the market and it is expected that cardiovascular biomaterials market would rise up in year 2021 to 2031. Major use of biomaterials in cardiovascular applications is due to their biocompatibility. As cardiovascular implants are blood contacting medical devices and have direct contact with blood

cells, endothelial cells, myocardium, and many other cells therefore, their biocompatibility make them to be used widely in cardiovascular applications.

## 2.2.1 Bio-ceramics

Hemocompatibility of biomaterials play important role for the application of bio-ceramics in implant fabrication. Bio-ceramics are inert, in-organic, non-metallic and have excellent mechanical properties, commonly used for the hard tissues replacements such as joints, bones, and dental implants. Despite these applications, bio-ceramics have been used for cardiovascular applications as a matrix or coating of implants because of its inert nature and anti-thrombogenic properties (Parlak et al., 2019). They are being used in hermetic seals on pacemakers, insulation of radio-ablation catheters, single crystal sapphire leaflets for heart valves and for coating purposes by chemical vapor deposition technique to improve wear properties of implants (Stanisławska, 2014).

## 2.2.1.1 Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and ZrO<sub>3</sub>

In past few year, scientists have investigated some of the bio-ceramic materials to check their hemocompatibility and some studies have reported controversial results of inert oxide bio-ceramics such as Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and ZrO<sub>2</sub> (Fischer, Luk, Oedekoven, Telle, & Mottaghy, 2007). However, some studies have indicated their hemocompatibility for cardiovascular applications(Lim et al., 2014). Hemocompatibility of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> has been reported in various studies.(Dion et al., 1993; Takami et al., 1997; Yuhta et al., 1994). In another study, stents coated with ZrO<sub>2</sub>, and Titanium monoxide showed hemocompatibility in *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. Additionally, coatings of ZrO<sub>2</sub> and titanium monoxide induce low inflammatory responses and exhibit improved endothelialization in comparison with other materials (Mikhalovska et al., 2011)

#### 2.2.1.2 Diamond-like carbon

Another well know example of ceramics is diamond like carbon (DLC) that are used for the coating of medical devices because of their excellent chemical resistance, temperature stability and biocompatibility. Diamond like carbon (DLC) can be alloyed with other biomaterials by Co-deposition method such as titanium (Ti), copper (Cu), vanadium (V). These DLC coatings show high resistance to platelet aggregation and blood clotting (Okrój et al., 2006). Coatings of Diamond-like carbon have been effectively employed for the applications of cardiovascular implants such as artificial heart valves, stents, and scalpels etc (Stanisławska, 2014).

#### 2.2.1.3 LTI carbon

As carbon is an essential bio-ceramic due to its excellent biocompatibility, and inertness. It has been used in biomedical applications widely in different forms and as low temperature isotropic carbon (LTI carbon) it has been used to fabricate synthetic heart valves. In 1969, for the first time LTI carbon was used for the fabrication of synthetic heart valves and currently Silicon low temperature isotropic (LTI) carbon alloy are being used for artificial heart valves synthesis to increase their mechanical strength (Davis, 2003).

#### 2.2.2 Polymers

Polymers are also used for biomedical applications due their minimal density, significant flexibility, sufficient mechanical strength, and biocompatibility. Though, two types of polymeric biomaterials are being used: synthetic and natural. Synthetic polymers include silicon (Si), polyethylene (PE), polypropylene (PP), polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE), polyurethanes (PU), polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA), and polyamides (PA) etc. Source of natural polymers are living organisms, as they are fundamental elements of their tissues. Natural polymers are mostly

proteins which include collagen, silk, and fibrinogen as well as polysaccharides which are chitin, cellulose, and starch. Synthetic polymer PTFE is used for the fabrication of vascular grafts and PU are used in prosthetic heart valve synthesis .(Helmus, 1991; Smith & Lamprou, 2014)

#### 2.2.3 Metals and metal alloys

Metal and metal alloys are used for biomedical applications from many years as biomaterials which include 316 stainless steels, Cobalt Chromium alloys as well as titanium and titanium alloys. These metal and metal alloys have advantages as well as some disadvantages. They possess high mechanical strength, but they have poor resistance to corrosion. Most commonly used metal for implants is austenitic stainless steels but it has less resistance to corrosion, and can get damage easily when heavy load is applied upon them (Talonen, Hänninen, Nenonen, Pape, & A, 2005).

Currently in most of the applications, 316L stainless steels is used due to its outstanding resistance to corrosion, antioxidative nature and excellent processability but they have some limitations such as their mechanical strength is low as compared to other metals and cause friction. From past few years, problem of poor mechanical strength has drawn attention and scientist are trying to develop approaches to strengthen them. In cardiovascular applications, 316L stainless steels are used for stent fabrication. Nitinol metal is also used for carotid stents fabrication. Titanium and titanium alloys have excellent mechanical strength and relatively have high resistance to corrosion. Moreover, they could facilitate the in-growth of bone and is commonly used biomaterial in commercial implants. For example, Titanium and Titanium alloys are used in artificial bones for the replacement of hard tissues, in joint replacements as well as in dental implants. In cardiovascular application, they are being used widely for prosthetic heart valves synthesis (Elias, Lima, Valiev, & Meyers, 2008). Implants made of Titanium and Titanium alloy can stay within the body more than 25 years (Stanisławska, 2014).

#### 2.2.4 Composites

Composites are the materials in which more than one type of materials are combined and have wide range of applications in the field biomedical. At present many composite materials are used such as polymer- polymer, polymer- metal, ceramic-polymer, ceramic- metal etc. As composite, mechanical strength of biomaterials improves and they become more resistant to high temperatures (Blazewicz, 2001). Furthermore, carbon fiber reinforced in polymeric matrix are also being used as composite in bone fixation application as a screw. As they possess good mechanical strength, they are also used in the synthesis of prosthetic heart valves (Nowacki, Dobrzański, & Gustavo, 2012). Composite of metal with ceramics are used for implant fabrication as combination, these two biomaterials increases the strength of ceramic material due to the addition of plastic metal into it (Stanisławska, 2014).

All the biomaterials used in cardiovascular applications including metals and metal alloys, bioceramics, polymers, and composites do not show significant biocompatibility and hemocompatibility which is essential for their practical applications. Therefore, to prevent the undesirable interaction between implants and tissues, their surfaces are modified with different biomolecules to alter their surface properties (Qi, Maitz, Huang, & Technology, 2013).

## 2.3 Problems of cardiovascular implants

After implantation of medical device into the host, blood/foreign material and tissue/foreign material reactions are initiated due to vascular injuries. Response of host begin immediately after implantation and continue over time based on the structure and chemical properties of biomaterials. After implantation, adsorption of proteins onto biomaterial's surface leads to cell

adhesion and due to the presence of microbes, they can lead to infections and sepsis problems (I. H. Jaffer & Weitz, 2019; L. Liu, Shi, Yu, Yan, & Luan, 2020).

Titanium and Titanium alloys are most commonly used biomaterials for implants because of their outstanding biocompatibility, mechanical strength, corrosion resistance and reduced ion formation ability. Despite these advantages, they can cause endoluminal injury which lead to overgrowth of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) and induce inflammatory reactions and extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition in lumen of vessels and a major limitation for their long-term success. This occurs in 20-30% patients within 6 months after stent implantation.(Jang et al., 2019)

Excellent mechanical properties are the reasons of implants prevalence, but implants possess some limitations such as corrosion which plays important role on the implant's success. Corrosion of implants release toxic ions into host body which changes the environment around the implants by promoting the overgrowth of endothelial cells which activate the immune cells and consequently give rise the inflammatory response.(Okazaki & Gotoh, 2008; Sojitra et al., 2010). Corrosion of implants surface also play important role in its functionality. Fractures in the stent due to corrosion have also been detected in 1-3% of patients after stent implantation (Scheinert et al., 2005) and fractured stents have also been associated with platelet activation ,stent thrombosis and neointimal growth due to overgrowth of proinflammatory factors (Chakravarty et al., 2010). Implantation of medical devices illicit a foreign body response that is dependent upon the surface topography and chemistry of biomaterial. Thus, implant design is important factor for their successful application. For example, the sharp edges promote greater inflammatory responses which as a result induce a place for the bacterial infections (Rochford et al., 2012).

## 2.3.1 Thrombosis (blood coagulation)

As we know that vascular implants are blood contacting medical devices so when implants come in-contact with blood they induce thrombosis (blood coagulation) by forming obstructive thrombus and in turn result in thrombus embolization induced stroke and lead to device failure.(Hilal, Mudd, DeLoughery, thrombosis, & haemostasis, 2019).



Figure 2.1 : Illustration of vascular implant induced thrombosis adapted from ref.(Hong et al., 2020)

When implants come in contact with blood, plasma proteins adsorb to the implant surface which subsequently activate clotting factors that cause aggregation of platelets in blood, white blood cell and cascade proteins which in turn results thrombosis.

## 2.3.3 Coagulation Cascade



Coagulation cascade

#### Figure 2.2: Illustrates of coagulation pathway

There are two ways by which coagulation process is initiated; intrinsic and extrinsic pathways. Intrinsic pathway is initiated when blood comes in contact with implants it activates plasma protein called factor XII which then activate factor XI. Activation of factor XI initiate series of proteolytic reactions and cause activation of factor IX and factor VIII which subsequently activate factor X. Activated factor X then convert prothrombin into thrombin which then convert fibrinogen into fibrin. Thrombin not only activate fibrinogen but also promote platelet aggregation thus create a platelet-fibrin thrombus (blood clots) that thrombus leads to device failure (I. Jaffer, Fredenburgh, Hirsh, Weitz, & Haemostasis, 2015).

Extrinsic pathway is initiated by tissue factors activation. When endothelial cells are damaged by injury or implantation, tissue factor VII activate. Activated factor VII facilitate the activation of factor X. Alternatively, factor VII can activate the factor IX which in turn can activate the factor

X. Once the factor X is activated, it proceeds to activate prothrombin into thrombin. Thrombin then convert fibrinogen into fibrin(Chaudhry, Usama, & Babiker, 2018).

## 2.3.3 Anticoagulant Coatings

Over the last few decades, to prevent blood clotting heparin is used as it has outstanding anticoagulation properties. For the coating of implants, heparin either implanted into the polymeric matrix or it is ionically bind with the surface of polymeric films as it can reduce 70% thrombus formation. But heparin has some limitations, as it is an anticoagulant drug, therefore, it thins the blood and increases the risk of bleeding. Another limitation of heparin is heparin induced thrombocytopenia in which platelet count in blood becomes very low and this increases the risk of thrombosis around implants.(Ramkumar et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018)

Due to these problems of heparin, other biomolecules, polymers, and coatings have begun to be explored. Synthetic polymers containing abundant amount of carboxyl group and sulfur containing functional groups can be used as anticoagulant coatings because heparin contains these functions which are responsible for its anticoagulation property. In one study heparin mimicking coating was fabricating using MAA and EGDA and it is found to have low platelet aggregation and has increased the blood clotting time (Wang et al., 2018).

Another polymer called polyurethanes exhibit anticoagulation activity when modified it with methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine and it has showed reduced platelet adhesion even after repeating test multiple times, but their mechanism of anticoagulation activity was unidentified(Chi et al., 2018). Along with polymeric coatings, non-polymeric coatings are also being for anticoagulation(X. Li et al., 2018) A combination of hyaluronic acid and polydopamine have showed excellent anticoagulation and anti-inflammatory activities but this coating also has some

limitations such as nitrous oxide are responsible for its anticoagulation activity, but it does not stay for long period of time(Wu et al., 2016). Recently, another non-polymeric coating was explored which exhibited excellent anticoagulation activity. For this coating, ultra-nanocrystalline diamonds were used which are apparently very difficult to synthesize. The only limitation of this type of coating this the fabrication as they are very difficult to synthesize. They have smooth surface and are very cost-effective and when results of anticoagulation activity of diamond coating were compared with pyrolytic carbon and they both exhibited same results, but diamond coating exhibited better mechanical strength than pyrolytic carbon(Zeng, Jarvik, et al., 2016; Zeng, Yin, et al., 2016).

| Coatings                                    | Anti-<br>coagulation<br>mechanism | Pros   | Limitations                                     | Ref.                  |
|---|-----------------------------------|--|---|-----------------------|
| Copper bearing coating                      | Copper                            | Anti-coagulation,<br>anti-infection<br>properties                            | Not as effective as heparin                     | (Wang et al., 2020)   |
| Heparin<br>coatings                         | Heparin                           | Very effective   | Chances of<br>developing HIT<br>High cost       | (Le et al., 2019)     |
| Metal phenolic<br>/catecholamine<br>coating | Nitrous<br>oxide                  | Anti-coagulant, anti-<br>inflammatory and<br>anti-bacterial<br>properties    | Nitrous oxide does<br>not stay for long<br>time | (Li et al., 2018)     |
| Polyurethane films                          | Surface<br>properties             | Very effective,<br>highly modifiable   | Not enough<br>research for this<br>type yet     | (Chi et al., 2018)    |
| Artificial<br>endothelium                   | Nitrous<br>oxide                  | Very Effective   | Nitrous oxide does<br>not stay for long<br>time | (Amoako et al., 2016) |
| Heparin/<br>graphene<br>coating             | Heparin                           | Effectiveness of<br>heparin and anti-<br>bacterial properties<br>of graphene | Becomes cytotoxic<br>at 4% wt of<br>graphene.   | (Pan et al., 2016)    |

Table 2.1: Already available anticoagulant coatings of biomedical implants

#### 2.4 Polylactic acid (PLA)

A Swedish chemist named Scheele first time discovered PLA in 1700 and for the first time, in medical applications, it was used for the repairment of mandibular fractures in dogs (Tan, Yu, Wan, Yang, & Technology, 2013). PLA is basically a thermoplastic, biodegradable, inexpensive and stable polymer derived lactic acid by fermentation process of corns and cereals having low melting temperature in the range of 180-220°C(P Pawar, U Tekale, U Shisodia, T Totre, & J Domb, 2014). It has been widely used for biomedical applications such as tissue engineering scaffolds, drug delivery carriers, implants coatings and various bioresorbable medical implants because of its biocompatible nature, ability to biodegrade, significant mechanical strength and easy processability. PLA was first approved by FDA for blood contacting medical devices in 1970 (MS Singhvi, Zinjarde, & Gokhale, 2019).

## 2.4.1 Market size of PLA

According to marketsandmarkets report, the estimated market size of lactic acid (LA) in 2020 was 1.1 billion USD and by 2025 it would reach to 2.1 billion USD with CAGR of 12.8%. The annual PLA (polylactic acid) market size was 786 million in 2020 and is expected to reach 1756 million USD by 2025 with CAGR of 17.4% due to significant increase in the use of lactic acid in biodegradable polymers for food and biomedical applications as it is environmentally friendly, easily processible, compostable and non- toxic.

## 2.4.2 PLA synthesis

Synthesis of PLA occurs in three steps; first lactic acid is synthesized and then polymerization of lactic acid form lactides, after that condensation polymerization of lactic acid form LMWPLA or

ring opening polymerization form HMWPLA (Mamata Singhvi, Zendo, Sonomoto, & biotechnology, 2018).



Figure 2.3: Polymerization of lactic acid. Adapted from ref.(Ahmed & Varshney, 2011)

## 2.4.3 Degradation of PLA

In different environmental conditions, PLA may result in undesired degradation that leads to their property loss. PLA degrade naturally by moisture, oxygen, and microorganisms by hydrolysis of ester bonds and PLA degrade into water, CO<sub>2</sub>, and some non-toxic byproducts. Degradation of PLA is influenced by variety of factors including temperature, hydrolysis, pH moisture content, shape, and size of device etc.



Figure 2.4: Hydrolysis of PLA

Hydrolysis of ester bond of PLA cleaves the polymer backbone chain and lessens the molecular weight of PLA, subsequently results in the formation of soluble oligomer and monomer molecules

(Castro-Aguirre, Iniguez-Franco, Samsudin, Fang, & Auras, 2016). Hydrolysis of backbone chain reduces the pH and hydrogen ion concentration that speeds up the reaction. In addition, hydrolysis mostly occurs at the amorphous region of PLA and subsequently increases its crystallinity(Valentina, Haroutioun, Fabrice, Vincent, & Roberto, 2018).

There are four common parameters that control the hydrolytic degradation of PLA such as absorption of  $H_2O$ , rate of diffusion, solubility of degradation byproducts and fragments of PLA chain and two degradation mechanisms are involved in PLA degradation such as surface erosion also known as heterogenous degradation and bulk erosion or homogenous degradation. Surface erosion occurs when the hydrolysis rate is higher than the water absorption rate within PLA matrix as a result shrinkage of PLA occurs while, for bulk erosion the shape of PLA remains same, but weight decreases over time (Casalini, Rossi, Castrovinci, Perale, & biotechnology, 2019).

#### 2.4.4 Drug release of PLA

Polymers used as drug delivery carriers, are usually biodegradable that eradicates the need of surgical procedures for the removal of implants after their need and biocompatibility of such polymers should be considered carefully in order to avoid complications such as toxicity and inflammation. PLA has physicochemical properties that help PLA to retain drug within matrix for long period of time (Harting, Johnston, & Petersen, 2019).

Different types of drug release mechanisms are reported in multiple studies and based on these mechanisms, polymers control the release of drug entrapped into their matrices by diffusion mechanism, degradation, or erosion of PLA, swelling or water uptake etc. Diffusion of drug particles occur when drug loaded films are submerged into the aqueous solution and the entrapped drug particles release form the matrix due to penetration of release medium into the center of the
films this subsequently result in the cleavage of polymer chain and sustained release of drug (Harting et al., 2019; Sonawane, More, Pandey, Patil, & Deshmukh, 2017).

## 2.5 Biomedical applications of PLA

Patients who are suffering for coronary artery diseases, they need implants to bypass and repair blockages. Implants can cause complication such as infections and toxicity which lead to implant failure, but implants made of PLA have suitable mechanical properties and its biodegradability make it promising for biomedical applications. *In vitro* Studies have reported synthetic PLA grafts reduces 0.77% weight after 25 days and 1.93% weight in 50 days. Biocompatibility is required for arterial grafting and multiple studies showed, PLA grafts exhibit endothelial cell viability which confirms their biocompatibility (Kabirian, Ditkowski, Zamanian, Heying, & Mozafari, 2018)

PLA is also being used for drug delivery systems and multiple studies have showed that drug loaded in PLA have improved their bioavailability. PLA and tamoxifen composite showed improve anti-tumor activity (Maji, Dey, Satapathy, Mukherjee, & Mondal, 2014). Similar findings were observed in the delivery of Docetaxel loaded on PLA as they had greater drug at targeted tumor site (Hrkach et al., 2012).PLA is also being used widely in implant coatings as with controlled degradation rate of PLA anti-biotics can be delivered at the sites of implantation to limit the risks of infections after implantations and implant failure can be avoided efficiently (P Pawar et al., 2014).

#### 2.6 Anti-coagulant drugs

According to World health organization (WHO), an estimated 80% of the total population use herbal medicines to the cure diseases. Due to chemical diversity of herbal plants, they are considered important source of medicines from which therapeutic drugs can be obtained. Drugs obtained from herbal plants are safe to use and inexpensive in comparison with synthetic drugs that have side effects as well as have wide therapeutic window. Herbal plants have antioxidant, antimicrobial and anticoagulant activities. Therefore, herbal drugs can be alternative of synthetic anticoagulant drugs to overcome their limitations such as bleeding problems of warfarin and heparin that have been reported in many studies (Sasidharan et al., 2011).



Cinnamon Cassia

Panax Ginseng

Ocimum Tenuiflorum

#### 2.6.1 Cinnamon Cassia

Cinnamon cassia belongs to genus Cinnamomum, and family Lauraceace commonly known as Cassia. It is commonly found in Asia and found in China, Laos and Vietnam, consist of more than 250 aromatic compounds and have been used for the aromatic spices worldwide. Cinnamon Cassia is employed as herbal medicine for the treatment of various diseases including Bronchitis, inflammation, fever, and improve circulation of blood. It comprises cinnamaldehyde, coumarin, polyphenol, cinnamic acid and diterpenoids which are responsible for its antifungal activities(Singh et al., 1995), antioxidant activities(Yang, Li, & Chuang, 2012) and anti-microbial activities. essential oil of cinnamon and an important component of oil cinnamaldehyde are responsible for anti-platelet aggregation activity. Ethanolic extract of Cinnamon Cassia has antiplatelet and anticoagulation activity and been reported in multiple studies (Kim et al., 2010)



Dihydrocinnacasside (12)

# *Figure 2.5: Structure of chemical constituents of Cinnamon Cassia. Adapted from ref.(Kim et al., 2010)*

#### 2.6.2 Ocimum tenuiflorum (Tulsi)

Ocimum tenuiflorum belongs to the genus Ocimum and the family is Lamiaceae, commonly known as Holy basil and Tulsi plant. It is mostly found in sub-continent region (Triveni et al., 2013) and has been widely used to cure various diseases including asthma, bronchitis, flu, malaria, cough, sore throat ulcers, and asthma (Jung, Je, Kim, & Kim, 2002). It has also been used for wound healing, as anti-coagulant drug, anticancer, antioxidant as well as anti-inflammatory drug. Aqueous extract of ocimum tenuiflorum has anticoagulant activity that is reported in literature and there was no toxicity observed in human blood plasma in in-vitro studies(Gunendren et al., 2017).

#### 2.6.3 Panax Ginseng

Panax ginseng belong to family Araliaceae and used as herbal medicine worldwide. Panax ginseng also called blood medicine as it helps to stop bleeding, reduces inflammation or act as antiinflammatory drug as well as relieves pain(C. T. Li, Wang, & Xu, 2013)



Figure2.6: Chemical structure of ginsenosides (Rg1 and Rg2), active constituents of panax ginseng which act as anticoagulants

Panax ginseng is widely used in Asia, mainly in China not as a medicine but people of those areas use it as tea and in wine making. In 2018, estimated marketed production value was 55.2 billion in China and total production was more than 3800 tons and it was expected that production value of ginseng will reach till 80 billion by 2020, due to its high demand for medicinal purposes (Al-Ani, 2019; H. Liu et al., 2020). Antiplatelet activity and anticoagulation activity of panax ginseng has been reported in multiple studies (Lau et al., 2009). Thus, it could be used as anticoagulant drug for the treatment of blood clotting.

| Drugs              | Chemical constituents   | Ref.   |
|--------------------|---|--|
| Cinnamon<br>Cassia | Consist of 10 phenolic compounds—4-hydroxybenzoic acid,<br>eugenol, cinnamic alcohol, cinnamaldehyde , 2-<br>hydroxycinnamaldehyde, 2-methoxycinnamaldehyde,<br>coniferaldehyde, cinnamic acid, dihydrocinnacasside, and<br>lyoniresinol $3\alpha$ - $O$ - $\beta$ -D-glucopyranoside—along with coumarin,<br>Icariside DC, amygdalactone | (Kim et al.,<br>2010)                                  |
| Panax<br>Ginseng   | Ginsenosides(Rg1 and Rg2), polysaccharides, amino acids, volatile oils, and polyacetylenes  | (C. T. Li et al.,<br>2013)<br>(H. Liu et al.,<br>2020) |
| Tulsi              | <b>Fixed oil</b> (Linoleic acid, Linolenic acid, Oleic acid, Palmitric acid, Stearic acid) Eugenol, Carvacrol, Linalool, and β-caryophyllene  | PanchalP,ParvezN(2019)                                 |

Table2.2: Chemical constituents of drugs responsible for their anticoagulation activity

# **Chapter 3**

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 3.1 Materials

Poly-lactic acid (PLA), N, N-dimethylformamide (DMF), Herbal anti-coagulant drugs (Panax Ginseng, Oscimum tenuiflorm (Tulsi), Cinnamon Cassia (Cassia)), PBS, DPPH and Ethanol.

#### **3.2** Selection criteria

For film fabrication, PLA was selected as polymeric matrix for drug as it has widely been used in biomedical application, tissue engineering and pharmaceutical applications due to its biocompatibility, biodegradability. DMF was selected as solvent due to excellent solubility of PLA in it. As purpose of our study was to develop anti-coagulant coating so three herbal drugs were used in this study based on their reported anti-coagulant, antioxidant properties.

#### **3.3** Optimization of solvent and PLA concentration

PLA concentration was optimized by using different concentrations in different solvents. For this purpose, 1%,2%,3%,4% PLA concentrations were dissolved in different solvents separately such as Dichloromethane, Chloroform, Acetone and Dimethylformamide. At these concentrations of PLA, films were not peeled off from the petri plate as the films were too thin. Then PLA concentration was increased to 5% and again dissolved it in Chloroform, Acetone, Dichloromethane (DCM) and Dimethylformamide (DMF). It was observed, dissolution of PLA in Chloroform, Acetone, Dichloromethane (DCM) was slow as compared to DMF and the films were brittle and had rough surface with visible pores. The films of PLA/DMF were flexible, had smooth surface with less visible pores. Based on these observation, Dimethylformamide (DMF) was used further for film fabrication in this study.

#### **Optimization of solvent and PLA conc.** Polymer **Solvents** Outcome Conc. Chloroform, 1,2,3 and Dichloromethane, Unable to peel them off from petri plate 4% PLA Acetone and DMF Chloroform Dissolution was slow Brittle Dichloromethane Rough surface with visible pores 5% PLA Acetone Fast dissolution DMF Flexible film Smooth surface with less visible pores •

# 3.4 Film fabrication

To fabricate PLA thin film using solvent casting method, (Byun et al., 2012) first 5% PLA was mixed in 35ml DMF at 65°C for 45mins under constant stirring at hotplate to get a clear and uniform PLA/DMF solution(Xu, Wang, Gao, & Wang, 2019). After dissolving PLA, the homogenous solution was poured into petri plate and kept in oven at 80 °C for 90mins to get thin film by evaporating solvent. After evaporation of solvent the film was peeled off from petri dish.



Figure 3.1: Pure PLA film

#### **3.5** Extract preparation

Extracts of drugs were prepared by following the methods reported in literature. For Cinnamon Cassia extract preparation, we used the method reported by (Gupta et al., 2008). Panax ginseng extract was prepared using method of (C. T. Li et al., 2013) and for Ocimum Tenuiflorm (tulsi),we followed the method reported by (Gunendren et al., 2017)

## **3.5.1** Extraction of Cinnamon Cassia (Cassia)

Cinnamon cassia bark was grounded using pestle mortar in order to obtain a fine powder. Cinnamon powder was weighed using weighing balance and (1g powder in 5ml solvent) soaked in 5% ethanol solution in media bottle for 48 hours at room temperature with frequent shaking. After 48hrs, mixture was centrifuged at 3500rpm for 20mins and then filtered through whatmann filter paper no.1. Then filtrate was evaporated using rotary evaporated under reduced pressure until a semi solid substance is obtained. Extract was then stored at 4°c for further use.

## 3.5.2 Extraction of Panax ginseng

Panax ginseng roots were grounded using pestle mortar to get a powder. Powdered roots were extracted by boiling them in distilled for 30 mins. Extracts were then centrifuged at 3500rpm for 20 mins and supernatant was collected. Residues were re-extracted by boiling them again with distilled water and then combined all the extracts and rotary evaporated to get concentrated material.

#### **3.5.3** Extraction of Oscimum Tenuiflorm (Tulsi)

For the extract preparation of oscimum tenuiflorm, first Tulsi leaves were grounded into fine powder using grinder. Finely grounded powder was then mixed with distilled water and boiled for 30 mins. Extract was then filtered through Whatmann filter paper no.1. and filtrate was then stored in refrigerator for further use.

# **3.6** Optimization of drug concentration for drug loaded film fabrications

As PLA has not been used with these drugs previously so, there was a need to optimize the drug concentration in PLA films. For optimization purpose, 5%, 10%, and 15% concentration of drugs were added into homogenous PLA/DMF solution on hot plate and dissolved in this solution for 20 mins using magnetic stir. Rest followed the same method that was used for plain PLA film fabrication. Same temperature and time were used for solvent evaporation in drying oven that were used for pure PLA film fabrication. Results showed that at 10% and 15% concentrations of drugs could not get integrated well with PLA and we could not be able to get films at 10% and 15% concentration of drugs were used for drug loaded films fabrications.



Figure 3.2: 10% P. Ginsneg



Figure 3.3 : 10% P.Ginseng



Figure 3.4: 10% Tulsi



Figure 3.5: 7% P. ginseng



Figure 3.6: 10% C.Cassia

# 3.6.1 Drug loaded films fabrications

For the fabrication of drug loaded films, we used 1%, 2.5%, 5% drugs concentrations and kept PLA concentration constant that was 5%. All Drugs were dissolved in PLA solution separately under constant stirring and homogenous solution of PLA with drug was poured on petri plate and dried in heating oven at 70-80°C for 90mins.For composite preparation, lowest concentration (1%) of all drugs were added into PLA solution. For heparin loaded film, 1% of heparin was added into PLA solution. Heparin loaded film in this study was used a positive control for comparative study.



Figure 3.7: 1X1cm size 1%,2.5% and 5% Oscimum Tenuiflorum films



Figure 3.8: 1x1cm size 1%,2.5% and 5% Panax Ginseng loaded films



Figure 3.9: 1x1cm size 1%,2.5%,5% Cinnamon Cassia loaded films



Figure 3.10: 1x1cm size 1% drug composite film

# 3.7 Compositions

| Compositions | C            | Cinnan<br>Cassi | ion<br>a     | Oscimum<br>tenuiflorm |              | Panax Ginseng |              | Heparin<br>(Control) | PLA          |              |    |
|--------------|--------------|-----------------|--------------|-----------------------|--------------|---------------|--------------|----------------------|--------------|--------------|----|
|              | 1%           | 2.5%            | 5%           | 1%                    | 2.5%         | 5%            | 1%           | 2.5%                 | 5%           | 1%           |    |
| C1           | $\checkmark$ | -               | -            | -                     | -            | -             | -            | -                    | -            | -            |    |
| C2.5         | -            | $\checkmark$    | -            | -                     | -            | -             | -            | -                    | -            | -            |    |
| C5           | -            | -               | $\checkmark$ | -                     | -            | -             | -            | -                    | -            | -            |    |
| T1           | -            | -               | -            | $\checkmark$          | -            | -             | -            | -                    | -            | -            |    |
| T2.5         | -            | -               | -            | -                     | $\checkmark$ | -             | -            | -                    | -            | -            | 5% |
| Τ5           | -            | -               | -            | -                     | -            | $\checkmark$  | -            | -                    | -            | -            |    |
| G5           | -            | -               | -            | -                     | -            | -             | $\checkmark$ | -                    | -            | -            |    |
| G10          | -            | -               | -            | -                     | -            | -             | -            | $\checkmark$         | -            | -            |    |
| G15          | -            | -               | -            | -                     | -            | -             | -            | -                    | $\checkmark$ | -            |    |
| Composite    | $\checkmark$ | -               | -            | $\checkmark$          | -            | -             | $\checkmark$ | -                    | -            | -            |    |
| Heparin      | -            | -               | -            | -                     | -            | -             | -            | -                    | -            | $\checkmark$ |    |

Table 3.1: Illustrates the compositions of drug loaded films

# 3.8 Characterization

To characterize drug loaded films, three characterization approaches were used.

- SEM
- EDX
- FTIR

# 3.8.1 Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) analysis

Surface morphology and dispersion of drugs on film surface were evaluated using JSM-6490A analytic scanning electron microscope (SEM), operated at 10kv acceleration voltage. Samples were sputtered with Au prior to imaging using sputter coater. Images were taken at magnification x200micron (Arbeiter et al., 2021)

## **3.8.2** Fourier transform infrared spectrophotometer (FTIR) analysis

Elemental composition of drug loaded PLA films and pure PLA films as well as interaction of drugs with PLA were measured at room temperature using Fourier transform infrared spectrophotometer (PerkinElmer; spectrum 100 FTIR spectrophotometer) at wavenumber range 400 - 4000cm<sup>-1</sup> (X. Ma, Wang, Wang, & Xu, 2017).

## 3.8.3 Energy dispersive X-rays (EDX) analysis

Elemental concentration and distribution on the film was determined by energy dispersive X-rays analysis (EDX) at randomly selected areas of film(H. Li, Wang, Zhang, & Pan, 2018).

#### **3.9** Anti-coagulation studies

- Prothrombin time test (PT Test)
- Activated-partial thromboplastin time test (a-PTT Test)

#### **3.9.1 PT Test**

*In vitro* anticoagulation activity of drug loaded films, heparin loaded films and pure PLA films was examined using pro-thrombin time test (PT) that indicate the bioactivity of extrinsic blood coagulation factors. For PT test, all drug loaded films, pure PLA films and Heparin loaded films were cut into 1x1 cm size. Fresh human blood was centrifuged at 1500rpm for 15mins, and plasma was separated from RBCs and RBCs were discarded. 1x1 size sample films were submerged into the separated plasma and then PT reagent (Neo plastin-Cl plus) was added into tubes containing sample films and incubated for 3mins and clotting time was measured using Coagulation analyzer from Behnk Elektroik GmbH and Co. Germany and this test is performed using the method reported by Boonkong et al in their study. (Boonkong, Petsom, & Thongchul, 2013).

# 3.9.2 a-PTT Test

a-PTT test is more sensitive than PT, in vitro anticoagulation activity of individual drugs was cross checked by a-PTT test. a-PTT test shows the bioactivity of intrinsic blood coagulation factors. This test was performed by following the method reported by (Allu et al., 2014). For a-PTT test, three compositions of each drug loaded films were cut into 1x1cm size and immersed in human blood plasma isolated from fresh human blood by centrifuge it at 1500rpm for 15 mins. a-PTT reagent was added into the tube containing sample films with plasma and incubated at room temperature for 3 mins and then clotting time was measured using Coagulation analyzer from Behnk Elektroik GmbH and Co. Germany(Yakub et al., 2014).

#### 3.10 *In-vitro* Studies

- Drug release studies
- Degradation studies
- Hemolysis studies
- Antioxidant studies

#### **3.10.1** Drug release studies

In-vitro drug release profile was evaluated in order to determine the amount of drug being released into the release medium from polymeric matrix as well as to compare the percentage (%) drug release of drug composite film with Heparin loaded film. Drug release from individual drug loaded films, drug composite and heparin loaded films were measured using UV-spectrophotometer by taking absorbance values at specific wavelengths. The absorbance wavelengths selected were 320nm,286nm, 544nm and 631nm for Ocimum tenuiflorum, Cinnamon Cassia and Panax ginseng and heparin, respectively. For the release studies, each drug loaded film was cut into 1x1 cm size and immersed into 3ml PBS solution in glass vials and after incubating for specific time intervals, complete PBS solution was withdrawn to analyze the amount of drug released by checking the absorption of each sample through UV- spectrophotometry and refilled the glass vials with fresh PBS solution.(Allu et al., 2014; Puttipipatkhachorn, Nunthanid, Yamamoto, & Peck, 2001)

#### 3.10.2 Degradation studies

In- vitro degradation of drug loaded PLA films is the weight loss of film over time at room temperature. For degradation studies, each drug loaded film was cut into 1x1 cm size and weighed the films (w<sub>o</sub>) After weighing them, placed those films into 5ml of PBS solution in glass vials. At selected time intervals, removed the film from PBS solution and dried them and weighed them(w<sub>t</sub>).

Percentage degradation at each interval was determined by using a formula written below.(GÜMÜŞDERELİOĞLU & Deniz, 1999; Yu, Cui, Wang, Yang, & Li, 2020)

#### Degradation rate (%) = $[W_0-W_t/W_0] \ge 100$

#### **3.10.3** Hemolysis test

Hemocompatibility of drug loaded PLA films, pure PLA and heparin loaded films (positive control) was checked by hemolysis test. As these drugs loaded films are fabricated to coat biomedical implants, they should have hemocompatibility due to its direct contact with body fluids and blood regularly.

For Hemolysis test, fresh human blood was taken in blood bag having anti-coagulant drugs. To isolate red blood cells (RBCs), blood was centrifuged with PBS at 5000rpm for 10mins. RBCs were washed three time with PBS and then isolated RBCs were diluted with PBS solution for the immersion of drug loaded films. In this procedure, TritonX-100 and PBS solution were employed as positive and negative control. In diluted RBCs drug loaded films were immersed and kept at room temperature for 2hrs and then centrifuged for 5 mins at 5000rpm.RBCs were discarded, and supernatant was collected for the measurement of absorbance through UV spectrophotometry at 540nm and then percentage hemolysis of each sample measured using the formula written below. Where,  $A_s$  is the absorbance of sample films and  $A_n$  is the absorbance of Negative control and  $A_p$  is the absorbance of positive control (Yu et al., 2020).

Hemolysis (%) =  $[(A_s - A_n)/(A_p) - (A_n)] \ge 100$ 

#### **3.10.4** Antioxidant studies

As novel coating for vascular implants, this should have a significant antioxidant activity. Across implants, there is a considerable oxidative stress due to the presence of reactive oxygen species (ROS) induced by blood clotting after injury or injury caused by implantation. Therefore, coating with antioxidant activity on implant's surface would be significantly favorable for success of implant.

Antioxidant activity of drug composite, pure PLA and heparin loaded film was determined using 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) assay. Film samples were cut into 1x1cm size and submerged into ethanolic solution of DPPH and kept at room temperature in dark for 1hr. Absorbance was measured using UV spectrophotometry at 517nm. Positive control and reference for this study were ascorbic acid and ethanol solution. Antioxidant activity of films was represented in percentage antioxidant activity and following equation was used to measure antioxidant activity. Where Ao is absorbance of control and As is absorbance of sample films (Q. Ma, Ren, & Wang, 2017)

#### Percentage antioxidant activity = [(Ao – As) / Ao] x100

# **Chapter 4**

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1 **Scanning Electron microscopy**





22

#### Figure 4.1: SEM micrographs of pure PLA film and different drug loaded films

SEM images showed that, the surface of pure PLA showed smooth, continuous, and homogenous microstructure without grainy and porous structure. Drug loaded films had quite rough surfaces as compared to pure PLA film. Though, pores, cavities and small particles were observed in drug loaded films due to the dispersion of the drug into the polymeric matrices and presence of high concentration of drug leads to increase in their roughness because of the essential oils present in the drug extracts which have extended over the surface of polymeric matrices and as a result reduced their regularities. SEM images of Cinnamon Cassia (Cassia) and Panax ginseng also

exhibited microcrack because of the brittleness of the film. Generally, surface roughness increases with drug incorporation in drug loaded films due unequal distribution of hydrophobic molecules during process of their formation that cause agglomeration of drug particles.

# 4.2 EDX analysis

Energy dispersive X-ray microscopy was used to determine the elemental concentration and distribution on the film surface. It was evident from the table that pure PLA film and drug loaded films had same elemental compositions and no additional elements were observed in the polymeric films after drug loading.

| FILMS           | C (Weight %) | O (Weight%) |
|-----------------|--------------|-------------|
| PLA             | 56.5         | 43.5        |
| Composite       | 51.4         | 48.6        |
| Cinnamon Cassia | 53.4         | 46.6        |
| Panax Ginseng   | 49.6         | 50.4        |
| Tulsi           | 53.7         | 46.3        |

Table4.1: Illustrates the percentage weight of elemental composition in Pure PLA Films and Drug loaded PLA films

Table of EDX results showed that percentage weight of carbon in PLA film was more than drug loaded films. However, with drug loading the elemental composition remained same but percentage weight of oxygen increased, and percentage weight of carbon decreased in drug loaded films which confirmed the uniform distribution of drug particles on PLA matrix.

#### **4.3 FTIR**

The interaction of drugs with PLA was examined by FTIR analysis. All the spectra displayed peaks at 2882cm<sup>-1</sup>, 2947cm<sup>-1</sup>, 2997cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1754cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponding to CH<sub>3</sub> and -C=O-stretching, 1381 is representing CH, 1266 is C=O,1180 is -C-O-C,1127,1080 are representing -C-O-H and 1043 is -C-C-. It can be observed from the spectra, with drugs in PLA there is no significant change in peaks positions which indicated the presence of chemical interactions and compatibility between drugs and polymer. However, Changes in peak intensities were observed. All drug loaded compositions had decreased peaks intensity corresponding to C=O stretching at 1754 cm<sup>-1</sup> as compared to pure PLA films. Peaks at 2882,2947 and 2997 were more noticeable in neat PLA whereas in drug loaded PLA peak intensity had decreased. In addition, the disappearance of stretching vibration at 1720cm<sup>-1</sup> which may also indicate the possible interaction between drugs and PLA. It is generally accepted that there is no interaction between drugs and PLA if the spectra remain unchanged upon addition but a minute change in peak position and change in peak intensity tells the possible interaction between drugs and polymer.



Figure 4.2: Illustrates the FTIR spectrum of all compositions of Oscimum Tenuiflorum (Tulsi) along with PLA and composite films.



Figure 4.3: Illustrates the spectrum of all compositions of Cinnamon Cassia (Cassia) along with PLA and composite films



Figure 4.4: Illustrates the FTIR spectrum of all compositions of Panax Ginseng along with PLA and Composite films.

# 4.4 In-vitro anticoagulation studies

As the anticoagulation activity of extract of individual drugs have reported in literature and it has been proved that their anti-coagulation activity increases with the increase in concentration of drugs(Gunendren et al., 2017; C. T. Li et al., 2013) and similar behavior was expressed by our drug compositions when were incubated with human blood plasma and results of anticoagulation studies proved that with polymer matrix drugs still show anticoagulation activity but the drug release rate is dependent on the release of drug into the release medium as drugs are incorporated into the polymeric matrix. Drug release and degradation polymer is interrelated mechanisms as the polymer degrade, drug is released from the polymer and with slow degradation of polymer drug release slowly.

#### **4.4.1 Prothrombin time test (PT)**

*In vitro* anticoagulation activity of drug composite, heparin loaded films and pure PLA was examined using pro-thrombin time test (PT) that indicate the bioactivity of extrinsic blood coagulation factors. In this study, blood plasma was used a negative control and heparin loaded films were used positive control. When the blood plasma was incubated with pure PLA films, PT values did not change and when human blood plasma was incubated with drug loaded films, small increase in the PT value of plasma was observed which indicate the anticoagulation property of drug loaded films. While the heparin loaded films and drug composite films enabled the PT value to become significantly high. Moreover, the coagulation activity of heparin loaded films and drug composite films were same which indicate the activation of extrinsic blood coagulation factors because of drug release from drug composite and heparin loaded films. With the release of drugs from drug loaded films. With the release of drugs from drug loaded films, we assumed that

drug composite films prolonged the PT values due to presence of all chemical constituents of drugs (Cinnamon Cassia (Cassia), Panax Ginseng, and Ocimum Tenuiflorm (Tulsi)) responsible for their anticoagulation activity.



Figure 4.5: Illustrates PT results of pure PLA films, Cinnamon cassia, Tulsi, Panax Ginseng and heparin loaded films.

#### **4.4.2** Activated partial thromboplastin time (a-PTT)

Activated partial thromboplastin time (a-PTT) Test is more sensitive than prothrombin time test (PT) and coagulation activity of drug loaded films was cross checked by a-PTT test.



#### Figure 4.6: Illustrates a-PTT results of Cinnamon, Tulsi, Panax Ginseng loaded films

In a-PTT, all drugs displayed anti-coagulation activity and trend of their anticoagulation activity was, with increase in the drug concentration their a-PTT value also increased due to the presence of more anti-coagulant chemical constituents in the films having high concentration of drug. Normal value of a-PTT was 30s and after incubation of drug loaded films in blood plasma the value of a-PTT increased. Cinnamon 1%, 2.5% and 5% displayed prolonged coagulation activity such as 30.7s, 30.3s and 35.2s a-PTT values. Ocimum tenuiflorum (Tulsi) also exhibited increased a-PTT value such as 30.4s, 30.6s, and 34.6s and Panax ginseng displayed 30.5s, 30.1s and 35.2s. Prolonged a-PTT values were due to the inactivation of coagulation factors in intrinsic pathway

by drug release from drug loaded films. Results of a-PTT test confirms anti-coagulation properties of individuals drugs, and this may prevent blood coagulation after coating on implants surface.

#### 4.5 *In-vitro* studies

#### 4.5.1 Drug

release

#### studies



#### Figure 4.7: Drug release studies of Drug composite film and Heparin loaded film

Drug release of composite film and heparin loaded film are shown in Figure 4.7. From the graph, it was observed that heparin loaded film and drug composite showed initial burst release of 18% and 13% respectively in the first day of release and drug release continued steadily thereafter. It can also be seen the drug release rate of heparin loaded film was higher as compared to heparin loaded film. In 38 days, drug release of heparin loaded film was 48% and drug release of drug composite was 43%. The phenomenon of initial burst release and sustained release are attributed to the diffusion of drug through the pre-existing pores on the surface of films, that form during

film formation process. The remaining of drug release slowly as the PLA degrades into the release medium. For drug release studies, sample films were immersed into the PBS solution which penetrates from surface of the film to the center of film which in turn result in the hydrolytic cleavage of the PLA chain and diffusion of drug from PLA matrix to the release medium. Lactic acid is a hydrophobic part of PLA that control the release of drug from polymeric matrix. Presence of lactic acid group make PLA less hydrophilic and hence make it degrade more slowly.



### 4.5.2 Degradation studies

Graph 4.8: Degradation studies of Pure PLA, Composite and Heparin loaded films

For degradation studies, composite film, heparin loaded film and pure PLA films were submerged into PBS solution. Percentage weight loss of films represent their degradation rate and prolongation of degradation time effect films qualitatively and quantitatively by significantly changing the film morphology and weight. Percentage degradation of pure PLA film and composite films were almost same in 37 days which was 3% while heparin loaded film was degraded little fast having the degradation rate of 6% in 37 days. Degradation of PLA films is based on microscopic dissolution process in which the structure of PLA is destroyed by the hydrolysis of backbone ester chain and split into small fragments which then completely dissolved by changing into water soluble by products such as CO<sub>2</sub> and water. In case of drug loaded PLA films, drug particles that adsorb on the film surface are released into the release medium after their immersion into the PBS, leaving behind pores on film surface. The porous structure of PLA and hydrophilicity, speedup the permeation of water into the matrix which increase the contact area between water and film, leaving more degradation sites which in turn increase the hydrolysis rate. This could be the reason that heparin loaded film had fast degradation rate than composite film because some of the drug particles were adsorbed on the film surface which then released into the release medium after immersion of film into the release medium and made the film surface porous and porous film surface subsequently increased its degradation rate.

#### 4.5.3 Hemolysis test

As the composite is to be coated on implants thus, it should have hemocompatibility which was analyzed by two approaches: Qualitative analysis and Quantitative analysis using UV spectrophotometry.

#### 4.5.3.1 **Qualitative analysis**

Color of supernatant shows hemolytic and non-hemolytic nature of films. From qualitative analysis of hemolysis test, it was observed that positive control (TritonX-100) showed 100% hemolysis whereas negative control did not exhibited hemolysis. Same was the case with our samples they did not show any color which means they are non-hemolytic



Figure 4.9: Qualitative analysis of hemolysis test



Figure 2: Positive control

# 4.5.3.2 Quantitative analysis

Results of qualitative analysis was further confirmed by calculating their percentage hemolysis (%). To calculate the percentage hemolysis of drug loaded films, UV spectrophotometry was used, and it was found out that all samples were non-hemolytic as their percentage hemolysis was in the range of non-hemolytic materials defined by ASTM F756 standard. Heparin loaded films showed 1.7% hemolysis while pure PLA and drug composite showed 1.22% and 1.29% hemolysis, respectively.



Figure 4.10: Hemolytic activity of PLA films, Heparin loaded films and drug composite film

# 6.1 Antioxidant studies



*Figure 4.11: Antioxidant activity of PLA films, Heparin loaded films and drug composite films* The objective of this study was to check the antioxidant activity of novel drug composite. Although antioxidant activity of all drugs has been reported in literature but as composite based on biodegradable polymer its antioxidant activity needs to be checked.

Graph of antioxidant activity showed that pure PLA films had 32% antioxidant activity while heparin loaded films and drug composite films showed 54% and 64% antioxidant activity, respectively. Phenolic compounds of drugs are responsible for their antioxidant activity and when the concentration drug increases antioxidant also increases because of presence of phenolic compounds and it was evident from the graph that antioxidant activity of drug composite is enhanced by addition of drugs. Similar results were found in multiple studies as the concentration drug increases, antioxidant activity also increases.(Kajaria et al., 2012; Yakub et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2012)

# Chapter 5

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the results, it was concluded that drug composite is proposed composition as a coating material for the drug eluting cardiovascular implants for the treatment of thrombosis because drug composite showed anticoagulant activity which was equal to commercially available anticoagulant drug (Heparin). Hemolysis assay showed that all individual drug loaded films and drug composite had anti- hemolytic activity which were in the range of non-hemolytic material defined by ASTM 756 standard. Furthermore, antioxidant activity was greater than heparin loaded film while drug release and degradation rate of drug composite were almost same in heparin loaded film and composite.

# **Chapter 6**

#### **FUTURE PROSPECTS**

In future, we will coat the developed drug composite onto the Implants specifically stents to modify their surface properties and their biocompatibility, hemocompatibility and anticoagulation activity will be tested further on animals before taking it to humans. Further, the drug release and degradation rate of coating can be increased or decrease according to the need of application by using different molecular weight of polymer. As high molecular weight polymer degrades slowly because of its highly crystalline structure resulting in slow hydrolysis of its backbone chain. Additional optimization of drug concentration can also help to increase or decrease the anticoagulation activity of coating significantly. Thus, after conducting further biocompatibility tests on the drug composite coated on the implants surface, it could be used as antithrombic coating for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases.

# Chapter 7

# Supplementary data

# 7.1 Degradation studies of P.ginseng, O.tenuiflorum and C.cassia







7.2 Drug release studies of P.ginseng, O.tenuiflorum, C.Cassia








## 7.3 Hemolysis studies of individual drugs

## 7.4 Antioxidant studies of individual drugs



### **Chapter 8**

#### REFERENCES

Global-Biomaterials-Markets-Analysis-and-Forecast-2021-2031---ResearchAndMarkets.com Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>Underlying Cause of Death, 1999–2018</u>. CDC WONDER Online Database. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2018. Accessed March 12, 2020

Arbeiter, D., Reske, T., Teske, M., Bajer, D., Senz, V., Schmitz, K.-P., . . . Oschatz, S. J. P.
(2021). Influence of Drug Incorporation on the Physico-Chemical Properties of Poly (I-Lactide)
Implant Coating Matrices—A Systematic Study. *13*(2), 292.

Byun, Y., Whiteside, S., Thomas, R., Dharman, M., Hughes, J., & Kim, Y. T. (2012). The effect of solvent mixture on the properties of solvent cast polylactic acid (PLA) film. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, *124*(5), 3577-3582. doi:10.1002/app.34071

Gunendren, M., Nordin, S. S., Ramachandran, M. R., Samad, N. A. J. J. o. B., & Sciences, C. (2017). Effect of Ocimum sanctum (Tulsi) aqueous leaf extract on prothrombin time (PT), activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT) and thrombin time (TT) of human plasma. *2*(1), 62-68.

Gupta, C., Garg, A. P., Uniyal, R. C., & Kumari, A. J. A. J. o. M. R. (2008). Comparative analysis of the antimicrobial activity of cinnamon oil and cinnamon extract on some food-borne microbes. *2*(9), 247-251.

Li, C. T., Wang, H. B., & Xu, B. J. (2013). A comparative study on anticoagulant activities of three Chinese herbal medicines from the genus Panax and anticoagulant activities of ginsenosides Rg1 and Rg2. *Pharm Biol*, *51*(8), 1077-1080. doi:10.3109/13880209.2013.775164 Li, H., Wang, Z., Zhang, H., & Pan, Z. J. P. (2018). Nanoporous PLA/(Chitosan Nanoparticle) composite fibrous membranes with excellent air filtration and antibacterial performance. *10*(10), 1085.

Ma, X., Wang, Y., Wang, J., & Xu, Y. (2017). *Effect of PBAT on property of PLA/PHB film used for fruits and vegetables.* Paper presented at the MATEC Web of Conferences.

Xu, A., Wang, Y., Gao, J., & Wang, J. (2019). Facile fabrication of a homogeneous cellulose/polylactic acid composite film with improved biocompatibility, biodegradability and mechanical properties. *Green Chemistry*, *21*(16), 4449-4456. doi:10.1039/c9gc01918a

- Ahmed, J., & Varshney, S. K. J. I. j. o. f. p. (2011). Polylactides—chemistry, properties and green packaging technology: a review. *14*(1), 37-58.
- Al-Ani, L. K. T. (2019). The Importance of Endophytic Fungi from the Medicinal Plant:
   Diversity, Natural Bioactive Compounds, and Control of Plant Pathogens. In *Medically Important Plant Biomes: Source of Secondary Metabolites* (pp. 189-238): Springer.
- Allu, C. B., Poluru, S., Shaik, S., Subha, M., Babu, C. R. K., & Kashayi, C. R. J. J. o. A. P. S.
  (2014). Development and In-vitro evaluation of poly (lactic acid) films for controlled release studies of Lapatinib: an anticancer drug. 4(9), 22.
- Arbeiter, D., Reske, T., Teske, M., Bajer, D., Senz, V., Schmitz, K.-P., . . . Oschatz, S. J. P.
  (2021). Influence of Drug Incorporation on the Physico-Chemical Properties of Poly (I-Lactide) Implant Coating Matrices—A Systematic Study. *13*(2), 292.

- Bentzon, J. F., Otsuka, F., Virmani, R., & Falk, E. J. C. r. (2014). Mechanisms of plaque formation and rupture. *114*(12), 1852-1866.
- Blazewicz, M. J. E. C. M. (2001). Carbon materials in the treatment of soft and hard tissue injuries. *2*, 21-29.
- Boonkong, W., Petsom, A., & Thongchul, N. J. J. o. M. S. M. i. M. (2013). Rapidly stopping hemorrhage by enhancing blood clotting at an opened wound using chitosan/polylactic acid/polycaprolactone wound dressing device. *24*(6), 1581-1593.
- Borhani, S., Hassanajili, S., Tafti, S. H. A., & Rabbani, S. J. P. i. b. (2018). Cardiovascular stents: overview, evolution, and next generation. *7*(3), 175-205.
- Byun, Y., Whiteside, S., Thomas, R., Dharman, M., Hughes, J., & Kim, Y. T. (2012). The effect of solvent mixture on the properties of solvent cast polylactic acid (PLA) film. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 124(5), 3577-3582. doi:10.1002/app.34071
- Casalini, T., Rossi, F., Castrovinci, A., Perale, G. J. F. i. b., & biotechnology. (2019). A perspective on polylactic acid-based polymers use for nanoparticles synthesis and applications. *7*, 259.
- Castro-Aguirre, E., Iniguez-Franco, F., Samsudin, H., Fang, X., & Auras, R. J. A. d. d. r. (2016).
  Poly (lactic acid)—Mass production, processing, industrial applications, and end of life.
  107, 333-366.
- Chakravarty, T., White, A. J., Buch, M., Naik, H., Doctor, N., Schapira, J., . . . Makkar, R. J. T.A. j. o. c. (2010). Meta-analysis of incidence, clinical characteristics and implications of stent fracture. *106*(8), 1075-1080.
- Chaudhry, R., Usama, S. M., & Babiker, H. M. (2018). Physiology, coagulation pathways.

- Chi, C., Sun, B., Zhou, N., Zhang, M., Chu, X., Yuan, P. J. C., & Biointerfaces, S. B. (2018). Anticoagulant polyurethane substrates modified with poly (2-methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine) via SI-RATRP. *163*, 301-308.
- Davis, J. (2003). Materials for Medical Devices. In: ASM Handbook Series.: ASM International.
- De Mel, A., Bolvin, C., Edirisinghe, M., Hamilton, G., & Seifalian, A. M. J. E. r. o. c. t. (2008). Development of cardiovascular bypass grafts: endothelialization and applications of nanotechnology. 6(9), 1259-1277.
- Dion, I., Lahaye, M., Salmon, R., Baquey, C., Monties, J.-R., & Havlik, P. J. B. (1993). Blood haemolysis by ceramics. *14*(2), 107-110.
- Elias, C., Lima, J., Valiev, R., & Meyers, M. J. J. (2008). Biomedical applications of titanium and its alloys. *60*(3), 46-49.
- Fischer, H., Luk, M., Oedekoven, B., Telle, R., & Mottaghy, K. J. J. o. B. M. R. P. A. (2007).
  Hemocompatibility of high strength oxide ceramic materials: An in vitro study. 81(4), 982-986.
- Fryar, C. D., Chen, T.-C., & Li, X. (2012). Prevalence of uncontrolled risk factors for cardiovascular disease: United States, 1999-2010: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and ....
- Garg, S., & Serruys, P. W. J. J. o. t. A. C. o. C. (2010). Coronary stents: looking forward. 56(10S), S43-S78.
- GÜMÜŞDERELİOĞLU, M., & Deniz, G. J. T. J. o. C. (1999). Synthesis, characterization and in vitro degradation of poly (dl-lactide)/poly (dl-lactide-co-glycolide) films. 23(2), 153-162.
- Gunendren, M., Nordin, S. S., Ramachandran, M. R., Samad, N. A. J. J. o. B., & Sciences, C. (2017). Effect of Ocimum sanctum (Tulsi) aqueous leaf extract on prothrombin time

(PT), activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT) and thrombin time (TT) of human plasma. *2*(1), 62-68.

- Gupta, C., Garg, A. P., Uniyal, R. C., & Kumari, A. J. A. J. o. M. R. (2008). Comparative analysis of the antimicrobial activity of cinnamon oil and cinnamon extract on some food-borne microbes. 2(9), 247-251.
- Harting, R., Johnston, K., & Petersen, S. J. I. J. o. B. P. (2019). Correlating in vitro degradation and drug release kinetics of biopolymer-based drug delivery systems. *1*(1), 8-21.

Helmus, M. N. J. M. B. (1991). Overview of biomedical materials. 16(9), 33-38.

- Hilal, T., Mudd, J., DeLoughery, T. G. J. R., thrombosis, p. i., & haemostasis. (2019).Hemostatic complications associated with ventricular assist devices. *3*(4), 589-598.
- Hong, J. K., Gao, L., Singh, J., Goh, T., Ruhoff, A. M., Neto, C., & Waterhouse, A. J. B. S. (2020). Evaluating medical device and material thrombosis under flow: current and emerging technologies. 8(21), 5824-5845.
- Hrkach, J., Von Hoff, D., Ali, M. M., Andrianova, E., Auer, J., Campbell, T., . . . Horhota, A. J.
  S. t. m. (2012). Preclinical development and clinical translation of a PSMA-targeted docetaxel nanoparticle with a differentiated pharmacological profile. *4*(128), 128ra139-128ra139.
- Jaffer, I., Fredenburgh, J., Hirsh, J., Weitz, J. J. J. o. T., & Haemostasis. (2015). Medical deviceinduced thrombosis: what causes it and how can we prevent it? , *13*, S72-S81.
- Jaffer, I. H., & Weitz, J. I. (2019). The blood compatibility challenge. Part 1: Blood-contacting medical devices: The scope of the problem. *Acta Biomater*, 94, 2-10. doi:10.1016/j.actbio.2019.06.021

- Jang, T.-S., Lee, J. H., Kim, S., Park, C., Song, J., Jae, H. J., . . . Jung, H.-D. J. B. (2019). Ta ion implanted nanoridge-platform for enhanced vascular responses. *223*, 119461.
- Joner, M., Finn, A. V., Farb, A., Mont, E. K., Kolodgie, F. D., Ladich, E., . . . Virmani, R. J. J. o. t. A. C. o. C. (2006). Pathology of drug-eluting stents in humans: delayed healing and late thrombotic risk. 48(1), 193-202.
- Jung, W.-K., Je, J.-Y., Kim, H.-J., & Kim, S.-K. J. B. R. (2002). A novel anticoagulant protein from Scapharca broughtonii. *35*(2), 199-205.
- Kabirian, F., Ditkowski, B., Zamanian, A., Heying, R., & Mozafari, M. J. M. T. P. (2018). An innovative approach towards 3D-printed scaffolds for the next generation of tissueengineered vascular grafts. 5(7), 15586-15594.
- Kajaria, D. K., Gangwar, M., Sharma, A. K., Tripathi, Y. B., Tripathi, J. S., & Tiwari, S. J. A. s.
  o. l. (2012). Evaluation of in vitro antioxidant capacity and reducing potential of polyherbal drug-Bhāraṅgyādi. *32*(1), 24.

Kara, S. (2012). A Roadmap of Biomedical Engineers and Milestones: BoD–Books on Demand.

- Kim, S. Y., Koo, Y. K., Koo, J. Y., Ngoc, T. M., Kang, S. S., Bae, K., . . . Yun-Choi, H. S. J. J.
  o. m. f. (2010). Platelet anti-aggregation activities of compounds from Cinnamomum cassia. *13*(5), 1069-1074.
- Lau, A.-J., Toh, D.-F., Chua, T.-K., Pang, Y.-K., Woo, S.-O., & Koh, H.-L. J. J. o. e. (2009).
  Antiplatelet and anticoagulant effects of Panax notoginseng: comparison of raw and steamed Panax notoginseng with Panax ginseng and Panax quinquefolium. *125*(3), 380-386.

- Lee, S. J., Jo, H. H., Lim, K. S., Lim, D., Lee, S., Lee, J. H., . . . Kwon, I. K. J. C. E. J. (2019).
  Heparin coating on 3D printed poly (l-lactic acid) biodegradable cardiovascular stent via mild surface modification approach for coronary artery implantation. *378*, 122116.
- Li, C. T., Wang, H. B., & Xu, B. J. (2013). A comparative study on anticoagulant activities of three Chinese herbal medicines from the genus Panax and anticoagulant activities of ginsenosides Rg1 and Rg2. *Pharm Biol*, *51*(8), 1077-1080. doi:10.3109/13880209.2013.775164
- Li, H., Wang, Z., Zhang, H., & Pan, Z. J. P. (2018). Nanoporous PLA/(Chitosan Nanoparticle) composite fibrous membranes with excellent air filtration and antibacterial performance. *10*(10), 1085.
- Li, X., Gao, P., Tan, J., Xiong, K., Maitz, M. F., Pan, C., . . . interfaces. (2018). Assembly of metal–phenolic/catecholamine networks for synergistically anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, and anticoagulant coatings. *10*(47), 40844-40853.
- Lim, K. S., Jeong, M. H., Bae, I. H., Park, J.-K., Park, D. S., Kim, J. M., . . . Jeong, H.-Y. J. J. o.
  c. (2014). Effect of polymer-free TiO2 stent coated with abciximab or alpha lipoic acid in porcine coronary restenosis model. *64*(5), 409-418.
- Liu, H., Lu, X., Hu, Y., & Fan, X. (2020). Chemical constituents of Panax ginseng and Panax notoginseng explain why they differ in therapeutic efficacy. *Pharmacol Res*, 161, 105263. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2020.105263
- Liu, L., Shi, H., Yu, H., Yan, S., & Luan, S. J. B. s. (2020). The recent advances in surface antibacterial strategies for biomedical catheters. *8*(15), 4095-4108.
- Ma, Q., Ren, Y., & Wang, L. J. F. h. (2017). Investigation of antioxidant activity and release kinetics of curcumin from tara gum/polyvinyl alcohol active film. 70, 286-292.

- Ma, X., Wang, Y., Wang, J., & Xu, Y. (2017). *Effect of PBAT on property of PLA/PHB film used for fruits and vegetables.* Paper presented at the MATEC Web of Conferences.
- Maji, R., Dey, N. S., Satapathy, B. S., Mukherjee, B., & Mondal, S. J. I. j. o. n. (2014).Preparation and characterization of Tamoxifen citrate loaded nanoparticles for breast cancer therapy. *9*, 3107.
- Mikhalovska, L., Chorna, N., Lazarenko, O., Haworth, P., Sudre, A., & Mikhalovsky, S. J. J. o.B. M. R. P. B. A. B. (2011). Inorganic coatings for cardiovascular stents: In vitro and in vivo studies. *96*(2), 333-341.
- Nowacki, J., Dobrzański, L., & Gustavo, F. J. O. A. L. (2012). Intramedullary implants for osteosynthesis of long bones. *11*(17), 1-150.
- Okazaki, Y., & Gotoh, E. J. C. s. (2008). Metal release from stainless steel, Co–Cr–Mo–Ni–Fe and Ni–Ti alloys in vascular implants. *50*(12), 3429-3438.
- Okrój, W., Kamińska, M., Klimek, L., Szymański, W., Walkowiak, B. J. D., & Materials, R. (2006). Blood platelets in contact with nanocrystalline diamond surfaces. *15*(10), 1535-1539.
- Otsuka, F., Kramer, M. C., Woudstra, P., Yahagi, K., Ladich, E., Finn, A. V., . . . Davis, H. R. J.
  A. (2015). Natural progression of atherosclerosis from pathologic intimal thickening to late fibroatheroma in human coronary arteries: a pathology study. 241(2), 772-782.
- P Pawar, R., U Tekale, S., U Shisodia, S., T Totre, J., & J Domb, A. J. R. p. o. r. m. (2014). Biomedical applications of poly (lactic acid). *4*(1), 40-51.
- Parlak, Z. V., Wein, S., Zybała, R., Tymicki, E., Kaszyca, K., Rütten, S., . . . Neuss, S. J. J. o. b.
  a. (2019). High-strength ceramics as innovative candidates for cardiovascular implants. 34(4), 585-596.

- Puttipipatkhachorn, S., Nunthanid, J., Yamamoto, K., & Peck, G. J. J. o. C. R. (2001). Drug physical state and drug–polymer interaction on drug release from chitosan matrix films. 75(1-2), 143-153.
- Qi, P., Maitz, M. F., Huang, N. J. S., & Technology, C. (2013). Surface modification of cardiovascular materials and implants. 233, 80-90.
- Ramkumar, M., Cools, P., Arunkumar, A., De Geyter, N., Morent, R., Kumar, V., . . .
  Pandiyaraj, K. (2018). Polymer coatings for biocompatibility and reduced nonspecific adsorption. In *Functionalised Cardiovascular Stents* (pp. 155-198): Elsevier.
- Rochford, E. T., Jaekel, D. J., Hickok, N. J., Richards, R. G., Moriarty, T. F., & Poulsson, A. H.
   (2012). Bacterial interactions with polyaryletheretherketone. In *PEEK biomaterials handbook* (pp. 93-117): Elsevier.
- Sacks, M. S., Merryman, W. D., & Schmidt, D. E. J. J. o. b. (2009). On the biomechanics of heart valve function. *42*(12), 1804-1824.
- Sasidharan, S., Chen, Y., Saravanan, D., Sundram, K., Latha, L. Y. J. A. j. o. t., complementary,
  & medicines, a. (2011). Extraction, isolation and characterization of bioactive compounds
  from plants' extracts. 8(1).
- Scheinert, D., Scheinert, S., Sax, J., Piorkowski, C., Bräunlich, S., Ulrich, M., . . . Schmidt, A. J.J. o. t. A. C. o. C. (2005). Prevalence and clinical impact of stent fractures after femoropopliteal stenting. 45(2), 312-315.
- Sin, D.-C., Kei, H.-L., & Miao, X. J. C. f. B. A. (2012). Surface coatings for ventricular assist devices. 264-283.
- Singh, H., Srivastava, M., Singh, A., & Srivastava, A. J. A. (1995). Cinnamon bark oil, a potent fungitoxicant against fungi causing respiratory tract mycoses. *50*(12), 995-999.

- Singhvi, M., Zendo, T., Sonomoto, K. J. A. m., & biotechnology. (2018). Free lactic acid production under acidic conditions by lactic acid bacteria strains: challenges and future prospects. *102*(14), 5911-5924.
- Singhvi, M., Zinjarde, S., & Gokhale, D. J. J. o. a. m. (2019). Polylactic acid: synthesis and biomedical applications. *127*(6), 1612-1626.
- Smith, J. R., & Lamprou, D. A. J. T. o. t. I. (2014). Polymer coatings for biomedical applications: a review. *92*(1), 9-19.
- Sojitra, P., Engineer, C., Kothwala, D., Raval, A., Kotadia, H., & Mehta, G. J. A. O. (2010).
   Electropolishing of 316LVM stainless steel cardiovascular stents: an investigation of material removal, surface roughness and corrosion behaviour. 23(3), 115-121.
- Sonawane, V. C., More, M. P., Pandey, A. P., Patil, P. O., & Deshmukh, P. K. (2017).
  Fabrication and characterization of shape memory polymers based bioabsorbable
  biomedical drug eluting stent. *Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol, 45*(8), 1740-1750.
  doi:10.1080/21691401.2017.1282867
- Stanisławska, A. J. A. M. S. (2014). Biomaterials and implants in cardiac and vascular surgeryreview. *14*(3), 5-17.
- Takami, Y., Nakazawa, T., Makinouchi, K., Glueck, J., Nosé, Y. J. J. o. B. M. R. A. O. J. o. T. S.f. B., & Biomaterials, T. J. S. f. (1997). Biocompatibility of alumina ceramic and polyethylene as materials for pivot bearings of a centrifugal blood pump. *36*(3), 381-386.
- Talonen, J., Hänninen, H., Nenonen, P., Pape, G. J. M., & A, m. t. (2005). Effect of strain rate on the strain-induced  $\gamma \rightarrow \alpha'$ -martensite transformation and mechanical properties of austenitic stainless steels. *36*(2), 421-432.

- Tan, L., Yu, X., Wan, P., Yang, K. J. J. o. M. S., & Technology. (2013). Biodegradable materials for bone repairs: a review. 29(6), 503-513.
- Triveni, Kumar, K., Singh, A. K., Kumar, R., Gupta, V., Tripathi, K. J. I. J. o. P., & Research, P. (2013). Ocimum sanctum Linn: A review on phytopharmacology and therapeutic potential of Tulsi. 3(2), 148-151.
- Valentina, I., Haroutioun, A., Fabrice, L., Vincent, V., & Roberto, P. J. M. (2018). Poly (lactic acid)-based nanobiocomposites with modulated degradation rates. *11*(10), 1943.
- Virani, S. S., Alonso, A., Aparicio, H. J., Benjamin, E. J., Bittencourt, M. S., Callaway, C. W., . .
  Delling, F. N. J. C. (2021). Heart disease and stroke statistics—2021 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *143*(8), e254-e743.
- Wang, H., Shi, X., Gao, A., Lin, H., Chen, Y., Ye, Y., . . . Deng, G. J. A. S. S. (2018). Heparin free coating on PLA membranes for enhanced hemocompatibility via iCVD. 433, 869-878.
- Wu, F., Li, J., Zhang, K., He, Z., Yang, P., Zou, D., . . . interfaces. (2016). Multifunctional coating based on hyaluronic acid and dopamine conjugate for potential application on surface modification of cardiovascular implanted devices. 8(1), 109-121.
- Xu, A., Wang, Y., Gao, J., & Wang, J. (2019). Facile fabrication of a homogeneous cellulose/polylactic acid composite film with improved biocompatibility, biodegradability and mechanical properties. *Green Chemistry*, 21(16), 4449-4456. doi:10.1039/c9gc01918a
- Yakub, G., Toncheva, A., Manolova, N., Rashkov, I., Kussovski, V., Danchev, D. J. J. o. b., & polymers, c. (2014). Curcumin-loaded poly (l-lactide-co-D, l-lactide) electrospun fibers:
  Preparation and antioxidant, anticoagulant, and antibacterial properties. 29(6), 607-627.

- Yang, C.-H., Li, R.-X., & Chuang, L.-Y. J. M. (2012). Antioxidant activity of various parts of Cinnamomum cassia extracted with different extraction methods. *17*(6), 7294-7304.
- Yu, Y., Cui, R., Wang, X., Yang, H., & Li, H. (2020). Preparation of multifunctional poly(llactic acid) film using heparin-mimetic polysaccharide multilayers: Hemocompatibility, cytotoxicity, antibacterial and drug loading/releasing properties. *Int J Biol Macromol,* 155, 14-26. doi:10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.03.180
- Yuhta, T., Kikuta, Y., Mitamura, Y., Nakagane, K., Murabayashi, S., & Nishimura, I. J. J. o. b.m. r. (1994). Blood compatibility of sputter-deposited alumina films. 28(2), 217-224.
- Zeng, H., Jarvik, R., Catausan, G., Moldovan, N., Carlisle, J. J. S., & Technology, C. (2016). Diamond coated artificial cardiovascular devices. 302, 420-425.
- Zeng, H., Yin, W., Catausan, G., Moldovan, N., Carlisle, J. J. D., & materials, r. (2016). Ultrananocrystalline diamond integration with pyrolytic carbon components of mechanical heart valves. 61, 97-101.
- Zilla, P., Brink, J., Human, P., & Bezuidenhout, D. J. B. (2008). Prosthetic heart valves: catering for the few. *29*(4), 385-406.
- Zou, D., Li, J., Kou, F., Luo, X., Yang, P. J. J. o. M. S., & Technology. (2021). Reveal crucial subtype of natural chondroitin sulfate on the functionalized coatings for cardiovascular implants. 91, 67-77.

# Plagiarism report

| ORGINALITY REPORT         8%       6%       5%       2%         SIMILARITY INDEX       INTERNET SOURCES       PUBLICATIONS       STUDENT PAPERS         PREMARY SOURCES       1       isindexing.com       <         1       isindexing.com       <          2       Www.mdpi.com       <          3       Www.cdc.gov       <          4       dokumen.pub       <          5       link.springer.com       <          6       www.britannica.com       <          7       Sun Young Kim. "Platelet Anti-Aggregation Activities of Compounds from Cinnamomum cassia", Journal of Medicinal Food, 10/2010 Publication          8       Submitted to Intercollege       < | Final The                    | esis   |  |                            |
|--|------------------------------|--|--|----------------------------|
| 8%       6%       5%       2%         SIMILARITY INDEX       6%       5%       2%         PRIMARY SOURCES       1       isindexing.com          1       isindexing.com           2       Www.mdpi.com           3       Www.cdc.gov           4       dokumen.pub           5       link.springer.com           6       www.britannica.com           7       Sun Young Kim. "Platelet Anti-Aggregation Activities of Compounds from Cinnamomum cassio", Journal of Medicinal Food, 10/2010 Publication          8       Submitted to Intercollege  | ORIGINALITY REP              | ORT  |  |                            |
| PRIMARY SOURCES         1       isindexing.com<br>Internet Source          2       WWW.mdpi.com<br>Internet Source          3       Www.cdc.gov<br>Internet Source          4       dokumen.pub<br>Internet Source          5       link.springer.com<br>Internet Source          6       Www.britannica.com<br>Internet Source          7       Sun Young Kim. "Platelet Anti-Aggregation<br>Activities of Compounds from Cinnamomum<br>cassia", Journal of Medicinal Food, 10/2010<br>Publication          8       Submitted to Intercollege   | 8%                           | 6%   | 5%<br>PUBLICATIONS   | 2%<br>STUDENT PAPERS       |
| 1       isindexing.com<br>Internet Source          2       www.mdpi.com<br>Internet Source          3       Www.cdc.gov<br>Internet Source          4       dokumen.pub<br>Internet Source          5       link.springer.com<br>Internet Source          6       www.britannica.com<br>Internet Source          7       Sun Young Kim. "Platelet Anti-Aggregation<br>Activities of Compounds from Cinnamonum<br>cassia", Journal of Medicinal Food, 10/2010<br>Publication          8       Submitted to Intercollege   | PRIMARY SOURC                | ES   |  |                            |
| 2       www.mdpi.com<br>Internet Source       <  | 1 isir                       | ndexing.com  |  | <1                         |
| 3       Www.cdc.gov<br>Internet Source       <   | 2 WW                         | w.mdpi.com   |  | <1                         |
| 4       dokumen.pub<br>Internet Source       <   | 3 Wv<br>Inter                | vw.cdc.gov   |  | <1                         |
| 5       link.springer.com       < '  | 4 do                         | kumen.pub  |  | <1                         |
| 6       www.britannica.com       < '   | 5 linter                     | k.springer.com   |  | <1                         |
| <ul> <li>Sun Young Kim. "Platelet Anti-Aggregation<br/>Activities of Compounds from <i>Cinnamomum</i><br/><i>cassia</i>", Journal of Medicinal Food, 10/2010</li> <li>Submitted to Intercollege</li> </ul>   | 6 WW                         | w.britannica.com   |  | <1                         |
| 8 Submitted to Intercollege <  | 7 Sur<br>Act<br>Cas<br>Publi | n Young Kim. "Plat<br>tivities of Compou<br>s <i>ia</i> ", Journal of Me | elet Anti-Aggreg<br>nds from <i>Cinnan</i><br>dicinal Food, 10 | ation <1<br>nomum<br>/2010 |
| Student Paper  | 8 Sud                        | bmitted to Interco   | llege  | <1                         |

| 9  | Tae-Sik Jang, Jae Hwan Lee, Sungwon Kim,<br>Cheonil Park, Juha Song, Hwan Jun Jae, Hyoun-<br>Ee Kim, Jin Wook Chung, Hyun-Do Jung. "Ta<br>ion implanted nanoridge-platform for<br>enhanced vascular responses", Biomaterials,<br>2019<br>Publication | <1% |
|----|--|-----|
| 10 | www.annalsofrscb.ro  | <1% |
| 11 | Santi Tungprapa, Ittipol Jangchud, Pitt<br>Supaphol. "Release characteristics of four<br>model drugs from drug-loaded<br>electrospun cellulose acetate fiber mats",<br>Polymer, 2007<br>Publication  | <1% |
| 12 | www.oatext.com   | <1% |
| 13 | shodhganga.inflibnet.ac.in:8080  | <1% |
| 14 | www.research.manchester.ac.uk  | <1% |
| 15 | www.tandfonline.com  | <1% |
| 16 | ethesis.nitrkl.ac.in   | <1% |
|    |  |     |

repository-tnmgrmu.ac.in

| 17 | Internet Source  | <1% |
|----|--|-----|
| 18 | scholarworks.uttyler.edu   | <1% |
| 19 | pubs.rsc.org   | <1% |
| 20 | www.webhealthmagazine.com  | <1% |
| 21 | Submitted to Mentone Grammar School<br>Student Paper   | <1% |
| 22 | Shayne C. Gad. "Integrated Safety and Risk<br>Assessment for Medical Devices and<br>Combination Products", Springer Science and<br>Business Media LLC, 2019<br>Publication   | <1% |
| 23 | eprints.usm.my<br>Internet Source  | <1% |
| 24 | open.library.ubc.ca  | <1% |
| 25 | Mariana N. Coelho, Paulo A.G. Soares, Flávia<br>S. Frattani, Luiza M.M. Camargo et al.<br>"Polysaccharide composition of an<br>anticoagulant fraction from the aqueous<br>extract of Marsypianthes chamaedrys<br>(Lamiaceae)", International Journal of<br>Biological Macromolecules, 2020 | <1% |

| 26 | P. Arullendran, P. Jani, T. Baglin, D. A. Moffat.<br>"Internal jugular vein thrombosis in<br>association with the factor V Leiden<br>mutation", The Journal of Laryngology &<br>Otology, 2007<br>Publication                                     | <1% |
|----|--|-----|
| 27 | ijesrt.com<br>Internet Source  | <1% |
| 28 | libdspace.ufh.ac.za  | <1% |
| 29 | Xiaoyan Wang, Lixiong Zeng, Shan Tu, Fei Ye,<br>Zhihui Zhang. "Calycosin-triblock copolymer<br>nanomicelles attenuate doxorubicin-induced<br>cardiotoxicity through upregulation of ERp57",<br>Arabian Journal of Chemistry, 2021<br>Publication | <1% |
| 30 | biocoreopen.org  | <1% |
| 31 | core.ac.uk<br>Internet Source  | <1% |
| 32 | hdl.handle.net   | <1% |
| 33 | iopscience.iop.org   | <1% |

unitedlabservice.com

|  | <br>       |             |
|--|------------|-------------|
|  |            | - 10 A      |
|  | - C. C. C. | 10 March 10 |
|  |            |             |

34



- H. Jiang, X. B. Wang, C. Y. Li, J. S. Li, F. J. Xu, C. <1 ... 36 Mao, W. T. Yang, J. Shen. "Improvement of Hemocompatibility of Polycaprolactone Film Surfaces with Zwitterionic Polymer Brushes", Langmuir, 2011 Publication
- <1% Uruchaya Sonchaeng, Fabiola Iñiguez-Franco, 37 Rafael Auras, Susan Selke, Maria Rubino, Loong-Tak Lim. "Poly(lactic acid) mass transfer properties", Progress in Polymer Science, 2018 Publication
- Wei Han, Fengzhou Fang. "Fundamental <1% 38 aspects and recent developments in electropolishing", International Journal of Machine Tools and Manufacture, 2019 Publication

| 39 | erepository.uoeld.ac.ke | <1% |
|----|-------------------------|-----|
| 40 | irispublishers.com      | <1« |



Internet Source





<1%

<1%

<1%

| 42 | Guicai Li, Ping Yang, Yuzhen Liao, Nan Huang.<br>"Tailoring of the Titanium Surface by<br>Immobilization of Heparin/Fibronectin<br>Complexes for Improving Blood Compatibility<br>and Endothelialization: An in Vitro Study",<br>Biomacromolecules, 2011<br>Publication  | <1% |
|----|--|-----|
| 43 | Julie Nilsen - Nygaard, Estefanía Noriega<br>Fernández, Tanja Radusin, Bjørn Tore<br>Rotabakk et al. "Current status of biobased<br>and biodegradable food packaging materials:<br>Impact on food quality and effect of<br>innovative processing technologies",<br>Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and<br>Food Safety, 2021<br>Publication | <1% |
| 44 | Jurczyk, Karolina. "Biomaterials",<br>Bionanomaterials for Dental Applications,<br>2012.<br>Publication  | <1% |
| 45 | Liu, Tao, Zheng Zeng, Yang Liu, Jian Wang,<br>Manfred F. Maitz, Yuan Wang, Shihui Liu,<br>Junying Chen, and Nan Huang. "Surface<br>Modification with Dopamine and  | <1% |

Heparin/Poly-I-Lysine Nanoparticles Provides

a Favorable Release Behavior for the Healing

of Vascular Stent Lesions", ACS Applied

Materials & Interfaces

89

| 46 | Maoli Yin, Yingfeng Wang, Yan Zhang,<br>Xuehong Ren, Yuyu Qiu, Tung-Shi Huang.<br>"Novel quaternarized N-halamine chitosan<br>and polyvinyl alcohol nanofibrous<br>membranes as hemostatic materials with<br>excellent antibacterial properties",<br>Carbohydrate Polymers, 2020<br>Publication                                      | <1% |
|----|--|-----|
| 47 | Peng Xue, Qian Li, Yuan Li, Lihong Sun, Lei<br>Zhang, Zhigang Xu, Yuejun Kang. "Surface<br>Modification of Poly(dimethylsiloxane) with<br>Polydopamine and Hyaluronic Acid To<br>Enhance Hemocompatibility for Potential<br>Applications in Medical Implants or Devices",<br>ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 2017<br>Publication | <1% |
| 48 | Pin Chen, Xin Wang, Jingyang Kong, Xiaohong<br>Hu. "A Facile Route to Fabricate CS/GO<br>Composite Film for the Application of<br>Therapeutic Contact Lenses", Advances in<br>Materials Science and Engineering, 2020<br>Publication   | <1% |
| 49 | Ramalingam Murugan. "Nano-Featured<br>Scaffolds for Tissue Engineering: A Review of<br>Spinning Methodologies", Tissue Engineering,<br>03/2006<br>Publication  | <1% |

| 50 | Stephen R. Hanson, Erik I. Tucker, Robert A.<br>Latour. "Blood Coagulation and Blood–<br>Material Interactions", Elsevier BV, 2020<br>Publication                                       | <1% |
|----|---|-----|
| 51 | discovery.dundee.ac.uk  | <1% |
| 52 | dspace.lboro.ac.uk<br>Internet Source   | <1% |
| 53 | jns.kashanu.ac.ir   | <1% |
| 54 | onlinelibrary.wiley.com   | <1% |
| 55 | www.degruyter.com   | <1% |
| 56 | www.hindawi.com   | <1% |
| 57 | www.ijpsonline.com  | <1% |
| 58 | "Biomaterials in Clinical Practice", Springer<br>Science and Business Media LLC, 2018<br>Publication  | <1% |
| 59 | Lyuba Mikhalovska. "Inorganic coatings for<br>cardiovascular stents: In vitro and in vivo<br>studies", Journal of Biomedical Materials<br>Research Part B Applied Biomaterials, 02/2011 | <1% |

Publication

## 60 "KYN325 EBL1 Global public health in everyday life WEB106187 ", Open University Publication



Exclude quotes Off Exclude bibliography On Exclude matches Off